PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, BODY COMPOSITION AND THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH

HEALTH IN YUP'IK PEOPLE

By

Maria Bray

RECOMMENDED:

Dr. Jeremy Pomeroy

Advisory Committee Member

Dr. William Knowler Advisory Committee Member

Dr. Brian Barnes Advisory Committee Member

Dr. Andrea Bersamin

Advisory Committee Member

1

Dr. Bert Boyer Advisory Committee Chair

Dr. Christa-Mulder Chair, Department of Biology and Wildlife

24

Dr. Paul Layer Dean, College of Natural Science and Mathematics

Or. John Eichelberger

Dean of the Graduate School

phil 2013 Date

APPROVED:

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY, BODY COMPOSITION AND THEIR ASSOCIATIONS WITH HEALTH IN YUP'IK PEOPLE

Α

DISSERTATION

Presented to the Faculty

of the University of Alaska Fairbanks

in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements

for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

By

Maria D. Bray, B.S.

Fairbanks, Alaska

May 2013

UMI Number: 3573019

All rights reserved

INFORMATION TO ALL USERS

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.



UMI 3573019 Published by ProQuest LLC 2013. Copyright in the Dissertation held by the Author. Microform Edition © ProQuest LLC. All rights reserved. This work is protected against unauthorized copying under Title 17, United States Code.



ProQuest LLC 789 East Eisenhower Parkway P.O. Box 1346 Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346

Abstract

Being active and preventing excess body fat are important for maintaining good health. The ability to measure activity and body composition accurately is important to understanding the role of activity and adiposity in health. This dissertation highlights key findings regarding assessment tools for physical activity and body composition and the associations between physical activity and body composition with health in Yup'ik people.

The main objectives of this dissertation were to: 1)assess the accuracy of bioimpedance and multiple regression models from anthropometry for estimating body composition (fat mass, fat-free mass, and percent body fat) as compared with doubly-labeled water (DLW) body composition estimates, 2) determined the associations between body size estimates, including simple anthropometry and body composition estimates, and obesity-related health risk factors and disease outcomes, 3) assess the accuracy of a combined heart rate/movement monitor (Actiheart) for determining physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) as compared with DLW PAEE, and 4) determine the associations between physical activity subcomponents and obesity-related health risk factors in Yup'ik people in southwestern Alaska.

Body composition can accurately be estimated using only three variables - sex, waist circumference (WC), and hip circumference with a multiple R^2 =0.9730 with DLW fat mass. WC and other anthropometrics were more highly correlated with a number of obesity-related risk factors than were direct estimates of body composition. When determining the accuracy of the Actiheart for determining PAEE as compared with DLW PAEE, none of the software PAEE models investigated were significantly correlated with DLW PAEE (ranging from r=0.02 (95% CI (-0.38, 0.41) to r=0.22 (-0.20, 0.56)). Limits of agreement (mean difference \pm 1.96SD) for all software models were large, ranging from --4540 to 1600 kcal/day. The best correlate of DLW PAEE from the Actiheart was the sum of accelerometer counts per day (r=0.50 (95% CI = 0.13, 0.74)). The associations between physical activity and obesity-related health risk factors showed that total movement throughout the day was positively associated with HDL cholesterol (r_s=0.13, r_s =0.15 men and women respectively) and negatively associated with body weight, body mass index, WC, percent body fat and triglycerides (r_s range from -0.17 to -0.25 in men and -0.19 to -0.21 in women). Sedentary time was positively associated with body weight, WC, and percent body fat (rs range from 0.10 to 0.18 in women) and negatively associated with HDL cholesterol ($r_s = -0.19$ in women). Moderate-to-vigorous physical activity was only associated with fasting glucose.

We conclude that 1) body composition in Yup'ik people can be accurately estimated from simple anthropometrics and that simple anthropometrics like WC can be used to assess obesity-related health risk, 2) the Actiheart software does not accurately estimate free-living PAEE in Yup'ik people however, total movement per day correlates with DLW PAEE and can be used as a proxy for PAEE, and 3) the accumulation of regular movement of any intensity while decreasing sedentary time may be more important for health in Yup'ik people than moderate-to-vigorous physical activity.

Table of Contents

Signature Pagei
Title Pageii
Abstract iii
Table of Contents vi
List of Figures xi
List of Tables xii
Acknowledgements xiii
1 General Introduction1
Body Composition Measurement2
Physical Activity/ Energy Expenditure Measurement5
The CANHR and CBPR10
Study Objectives 12
References
Research Approval 24
2 Simple Anthropometrics are more Correlated with Health Variables than
are Estimates of Body Composition in Yup'ik People

Page

Abstract
Introduction
Methods 27
Statistical analyses
Results
Discussion
Acknowledgements
Conflict of interest
References
Appendices
Supplementary Methods
Lipids, Hormone, Glucose, and Disease Diagnoses
Doubly Labeled Water 41
Bioimpedance Analysis
Statistical Analyses 43
Correlation of Anthropometric Measures and Body Composition with Lipids,
Hormones, and Blood Pressure in the Population Sample
References for Supplementary Methods:

.

vii

3	Accuracy of the Combined Movement / Heart Rate Monitor Actiheart for	
М	easuring Free-Living Energy Expenditure in Yup'ik People4	19
	Abstract	19
	Introduction	50
	Methods 5	;3
	Participants5	53
	Energy Expenditure – Doubly Labeled Water	54
	Resting and Physical Activity Energy Expenditure5	54
	Energy Expenditure - The combined ACC and HR monitor	55
	Calibration	58
	The combined ACC and HR monitor for free-living conditions	;9
	Statistical analyses	50
	Results	51
	Correlation of Energy Expenditure with Body Size6	52
	PAEE Model Comparisons with DLW PAEE6	52
	Autofill Option	54
	Exercise vs. Non-Exercise Calibration6	54
	Combined HR and ACC vs. HR Only or ACC Only6	55

viii

Discussion	66
Adjusting PAEE for Body Weight Compared to Dividing PAEE I	by Body W <mark>eig</mark> ht
	69
Output option: Autofill	70
Study Strengths and Limitations	71
Conclusions	
Acknowledgements	73
References	74
4 The Associations of Objectively Measured Physical Activity	with
Cardiovascular and Metabolic Risk Factors in Yup'ik People	86
Abstract	86
Introduction	
Methods	89
The Actiheart	
Actiheart for Free-living Conditions	
Physical Activity Subcomponents	
Statistical analyses	

ix

	conclution of a hysical Activity with Lipito, nonnones, and brood a ressure	-
		92
	Results	94
	Physical Activity and Health-Related Variables – Correlations	9 5
	Diabetes and Physical Activity Subcomponents	97
	Modeling Health-Related Variables from Physical Activity Variables with	
	Linear Regression – Expressing Standardized & Coefficients	97
	Discussion	<u>98</u>
	Study Strengths and Limitations 1	100
	Conclusions1	101
	Acknowledgements1	102
	References:	1 03
5	General Conclusions 1	13
	References 1	L 18

.

Correlation of Physical Activity with Lipids, Hormones, and Blood Pressure

.

List of Figures

Page

Figure 3-1: The Flex Heart Rate - Physical Activity Intensity / Heart Rate		
Relationship	83	
Figure 3-2: Actiheart Positions - Upper and Lower	84	
Figure 3-3: Bland Altman Plots	85	

.

List of Tables

Table 2-1: Associations of Body Size Measures with Obesity-Related Risk Factors
and Diseases
Table 3-1 - Model Attributes
Table 3-2: Participant Characteristics 79
Table 3-3: PAEE Statistics 80
Table 3-4: Correlations of Energy Expenditure with Body Size 81
Table 3-5: Actiheart and DLW PAEE Comparison Statistics 82
Table 4-1: Clinical Characteristics of Yup'ik People with Reliable Activity
Measurements Error! Bookmark not defined.
Table 4-2: Physical Activity Characteristics of Yup'ik Participants
Table 4-3: Correlations of PA to Health-Related Variables in Yup'ik Men &
Women Combined 109
Table 4-4: Correlations of PA to Health-Related Variables in Yup'ik Men 110
Table 4-5: Correlations of PA to Health-Related Variables in Yup'ik Women 111
Table 4-6: Associations of PA and Health-Related Risk in Yup'ik People

,

.

;

Acknowledgements

I would like to extend a huge thank you to everyone who helped make my University of Alaska Fairbanks (UAF) Ph.D. research project possible. First, thank you to the Yukon Kuskokwim Health Corporation and the Yup'ik participants, whose commitment and interest in their health made this project successful. Thank you to all the faculty and staff members of the Center for Alaska Native Health Research, especially those heavily involved in the data collection, including Scarlett Hopkins, Jynene Black, Eliza Orr, and Dr. Bert Boyer. Also, to each of my committee members, Dr. Bert Boyer, Dr. William Knowler, Dr. Jeremy Pomeroy, Dr. Andrea Bersamin, and Dr. Brian Barnes, who contributed their time and knowledge to direct my learning process and completion of this project. Additionally, Dr. Julie McIntyre and the UAF statistics professors were always available to collaborate and guide my direction on the statistical analysis of the data. A very special thank you must be extended to Dr. William Knowler and Dr. Jeremy Pomeroy for going above and beyond the call of duty as committee members by having nearly weekly conference calls and always being available for help over the past 5 years.

In addition to those who have helped me through the University, there are many others who have given me encouragement and guidance, provided useful feedback, and just put up with my occasional frustration and stress. I'd

xiii

especially like to thank Kathy Bue, Jeff Bue, and the entire Bue family for believing in me.

There are many other groups and individuals who have contributed in a variety of ways, and although I am not able to individually acknowledge them all, I am grateful to each one of them. Thank you to all of you who have helped in even the smallest way – even if it was just a word of encouragement, small prayer, or minor feedback. Every one of you has been important to the completion of this project!

1 General Introduction

Obesity in humans is categorized as having a body mass index (BMI = weight in kg divided by height in m²) \ge 30 kg/m², and overweight as a BMI \ge 25 kg/m² and <30 kg/m² (1). Since 1980, worldwide obesity rates have doubled (2) and are projected to continue to increase (3-6). In 2008, 1.4 billion adults were overweight; 200 million were obese. Obesity is not only an issue for adults, but has also become a concern for children (7-9). In 2010, over 40 million children under the age of 5 worldwide were overweight or obese (3). As these children become adults, it is projected that by the year 2030, the prevalence of overweight and obesity in adults will increase by as much as 69%. The prevalence of overweight and obesity among Yup'ik people who live on the western coast of Alaska is similar to the US Caucasian population (10-13).

Obesity is a major risk factor for chronic diseases including type 2 diabetes (T2D), cardiovascular disease (CVD), and cancer (14-23). In 2008, CVD was the leading cause of death worldwide (2). The prevalence of T2D and CVD is generally higher in indigenous groups than in the general US population (24-25). Although the prevalence of obesity in Yup'ik people is similar to the US Caucasian population, the prevalence of medically diagnosed T2D is lower among Yup'ik people at 3.2% (age-adjusted to the Std. U.S. 2000 Population)

than in the general US population at 7.7% (aged \geq 20 years in 2005-2006) (10,26-29). Chronic diseases reduce lifespan and add economic burden to families, communities, and countries worldwide (5-6,30-31). Chronic diseases linked to obesity are of particular concern as the prevalence of obesity continues to grow (32-33). Educating people about the health benefits of physical activity and weight management, as well as providing opportunities for physical activity, are important steps in alleviating the community and global obesity epidemic.

Body Composition Measurement

Understanding how body fat mass and distribution are related to health risk is central to addressing the obesity epidemic and delivering meaningful health advice. However, measuring obesity and fat distribution anywhere, but particularly in remote and rural settings, is challenging. The transportation of large equipment to remote areas for measuring adiposity is expensive and impractical and the measurement cost per person is significant. Methods that are practical for use yet accurate for quantifying adiposity and body fat distribution are needed to address the health care needs of rural communities where health care and resources may be minimal.

Several methods of estimating body fat mass and fat distribution are commonly used. Methods that quantify adiposity (fat mass and percent body fat) such as isotopically-labeled water, dual-energy x-ray absorptiometry (DXA), magnetic resonance imaging (MRI), and air displacement plethysmography are expensive and not necessarily feasible in remote locations. The most common measures of obesity and body fat distribution, body mass index (BMI), weight, waist circumference (WC), and waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) are inexpensive and very transportable, but do not quantify or show the distribution of adipose tissue. Adiposity can be measured indirectly using bioelectrical impedance (BIA) or estimated using multiple regression techniques from anthropometry (height, weight, circumferences, and skinfolds). BIA and multiple regression from anthropometry have a number of advantages: the equipment is small, easily transportable, and relatively inexpensive. However, the relationships between body size measurements and body composition or body fat distribution differ between ethnic groups (34). Measurement methods need to be tested in population specific groups to guarantee unbiased conclusions and accurately assess obesity related health risk. It is currently unknown if BIA or methods using multiple regression from anthropometry are accurate for assessing adiposity in Alaska Native people (12). It is also unknown how simple anthropometrics and indirect measures of obesity predict obesity-related health risk in Alaska Native and other peoples. The development and use of simple measures of adiposity are likely important for delivering health care or conducting research in remote locations where more complex methods are not available.

3

Physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) is the most modifiable component of total energy expenditure and is thus a potential important factor in preventing obesity and associated chronic health complications. For sustained weight loss, energy output must be greater than energy input. To maintain weight, energy input must approximate energy output. The current physical activity recommendations for promoting health, but not necessarily weight loss, suggest 30 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) at least 5 days of the week (35-36). There is a large body of evidence, although based on self-report methods, supporting the association between regular physical activity and improved health. The evidence is highlighted in the 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report (37). Physical activity helps control weight and reduces the risk for CVD, T2D, metabolic syndrome, and some cancers (38-41). Type 2 diabetes, CVD, and dyslipidemia can result from increased abdominal obesity and viscerally located fat (42-44). Increases in physical activity reduce total and visceral adiposity (surrounding the vital organs), leading to improved health outcomes (45-48). Physical activity strengthens bones and muscles, thereby helping to prevent falls and fractures (49-50). It also improves mental health, longevity, and overall quality of life (37, 51-58).

Sustained patterns of physical activity in humans represent a complex behavior that includes subcomponents such as intensity, duration, and frequency. Although there is a large body of evidence showing the benefits of physical activity, these data are primarily collected using self-report methods which can be inaccurate. Therefore, which subcomponents of physical activity are most effective at decreasing the prevalence of obesity-related disease and improving health are not well understood. To understand the dose-response relationships among physical activity, inactivity, and chronic disease risk, physical activity must be accurately measured as people go about their daily lives.

Physical Activity/ Energy Expenditure Measurement

PAEE can be assessed by a variety of methods, including self-report and objective means. Self-report methods are relatively easy to use, can be used to inexpensively estimate broad categories of activity, and can be used to differentiate between subcomponents of physical activity. However, significant reporting bias (recall bias and socially acceptable response bias) is likely (59-61). Unfortunately, most of the physical activity data available have been collected using self-report methods (62).

Objective measures of physical activity reduce the potential for reporting bias. Common objective techniques include respired gas exchange indirect calorimetry, doubly labeled water (DLW), heart rate (HR), and accelerometry (ACC) or movement monitoring. Indirect calorimetry, including respired gas exchange and DLW, has been used extensively for validation of the HR, ACC, and combined HR/ACC methods. Indirect calorimetry is used to estimate energy

5

expenditure by measuring oxygen consumption ($\dot{V}O_2$) and carbon dioxide production ($\dot{V}CO_2$). Chemical energy is liberated from food sources, releasing CO₂, water, and heat. The ratio of CO₂ production to O₂ consumption is defined as the respiratory exchange ratio (RER). The RER determines the completeness of burning and amount of heat (kcal) produced by comparing the amount of CO₂ produced to each liter of oxygen consumed. When the food source is strictly carbohydrates, the RER is 1.0; when the source is strictly fat, the RER is 0.70. Based on an individual's CO₂ production and O₂ consumption, energy expenditure is determined using Weir's formula: Energy expenditure (kcal/day) = [3.9 ($\dot{V}O_2$ (mL/min)) + 1.1 ($\dot{V}CO_2$ (mL/min))] 1.44 (63).

The DLW method indirectly estimates CO₂ production by measuring the difference in disappearance rates between labeled ¹⁸O and ²H from the body (64). ¹⁸O and ²H are safe, naturally occurring heavy isotopes of oxygen and hydrogen. ¹⁸O is lost through CO₂ production during respiration and water loss. ²H is only lost through water loss. Therefore the difference between the amount of ¹⁸O and ²H lost in the urine provides an indirect measure of the rate of CO₂ production, and O₂ consumption, making it possible to estimate energy expenditure. DLW can be used to measure energy expenditure as people go about their normal lives, but cannot differentiate between subcomponents of physical activity.

The equipment involved with respired gas exchange indirect calorimetry, such as a metabolic cart or metabolic chamber, is not suitable to measure freeliving energy expenditure because it prohibits a person from true free-living conditions. The respired gas exchange and DLW methods are also rather expensive, and therefore not ideal for use in large studies. In an effort to gain cost effective, accurate methods to assess physical activity in free-living conditions, researchers have turned to the use of the HR and ACC methods for estimating PAEE.

The HR and ACC based methods have their own advantages and disadvantages. Both are more affordable than DLW or respired gas exchange indirect calorimetry methods, and both can differentiate between physical activity subcomponents including intensity, duration, and frequency of activity, and PAEE. Quantifying these subcomponents may elucidate which subcomponents of physical activity have the greatest effect on health-related variables. Recent advances in the technology of objective measurement sensors that measure HR and ACC make them lightweight and capable of storing large volumes of data over several days to weeks of wear and records time on a continuous basis which allows identification of time periods of physical activity or inactivity (65).

Heart rate monitoring records a physiological measure (HR) which can be used to estimate PAEE based on the linearity of the relationship of HR and PAEE. This relationship depends on factors such as age, sex, weight, fitness level, ambient temperature, stress, and dehydration (66-69). Adjustment methods include individual calibration of the HR to PAEE relationship in order to improve energy expenditure estimates (70). The HR to PAEE relationship is linear for physical activity intensities above resting energy expenditure (REE) that involve large muscle groups, but below a certain intensity threshold, changes in HR do not correlate with changes in PAEE. To account for the discrepancies at low intensity levels, the "flex heart rate" has been used as a cutoff point below which REE is assigned (56). The flex HR is the average of the lowest heart rate during light exercise and the highest heart rate during rest (67). Above this flex HR cutoff point, PAEE is determined using the linear HR to PAEE relationship, while below this flex point, energy expenditure is assigned as the REE. The accuracy of the flex HR method for estimating PAEE has been established against wholebody calorimetry with a correlation of r=0.943, a mean difference between flex HR and whole-body calorimetry PAEE of 1.2% (SD 6.2), and a range- 11.4 to + 10.6 %, however there can be large discrepancies (67,71).

The ACC method estimates PAEE using body movement or a change in gravitational acceleration. The raw acceleration data from a physical activity monitor are typically filtered to remove minor vibrations that are not associated with physiologically meaningful human movement. Then the filtered data are averaged over a defined epoch. The result is an arbitrary unit called a count. Similar to the relationship between HR and PAEE, the relationship between ACC counts and PAEE is assumed to be linear and can be established in laboratory environments or free-living environments. This linear relationship does not always hold, however, as most hip worn uniaxial accelerometers show a plateau in acceleration despite a rise in energy expenditure during some activities like high intensity running (72-73). Accelerometers used for assessing physical activity are typically worn on the hip or a limb, and measure movement in one direction, usually vertical acceleration. Triaxial accelerometers are becoming more common and measure movement in three directions. Depending on the type of accelerometer and its wear location, it may not fully capture physical activity movements such as bicycling, upper body movements, carrying heavy loads, or differentiate between walking /running on inclined slopes vs. flat ground. These are important considerations for measurement of PAEE, as the relationship between accelerometry and PAEE is dependent on accurate count measurement.

HR and ACC can be combined to potentially enhance the assessment of physical activity. The combined method takes advantage of the unique strengths of the HR and ACC methods, overcoming some of the weakness of each method when used alone. By combining the HR and ACC methods the accuracy of energy expenditure and PAEE estimates has been improved over either method alone in the laboratory setting (74-78). One combined HR/ACC monitor (Actiheart, Camntech) has been validated for use in free-living people by comparing PAEE values estimated using the Actiheart with PAEE values determined from DLW (79-80).

As the rates of obesity and chronic disease rise, it is vital to have tools that can be used by researchers and clinicians which are reliable, accurate, and affordable for use in free-living people (81). Validation of objective tools, including the Actiheart monitor, for monitoring physical activity behavior and energy expenditure in the population of interest, is critical to understanding the roles that subcomponents of physical activity play in health and developing valid physical activity recommendations.

The CANHR and CBPR

Health disparities exist in minority populations, including Alaska Native people (82). The Center for Alaska Native Health Research (CANHR) was established in 2001 to work with Alaska Native people and build trusting relationships and partnerships to reduce health disparities and improve health. CANHR uses a community-based participatory research (CBPR) framework to conduct research in rural Alaska. CBPR is a partnership approach to research that jointly involves community members and researchers in the research process. The goal is to address the research priorities and needs of the community members to gain an understanding of risk and protective factors and how to improve health. Researchers and community members work together to integrate the new knowledge into practical applications for improving community health. The CBPR framework is the approach used with the research for this dissertation.

A primary focus of CANHR is to investigate obesity and chronic disease related risk factors in Yup'ik people living in Southwestern Alaska who have traditionally lived a subsistence lifestyle and are increasingly exposed to influences of western society (activity and dietary habits). Increased exposure to sedentary lifestyles and market foods could negatively impact the health of Yup'ik people as has been seen in other indigenous cultures (24-25,83-84).

Understanding the relationships between body composition, physical activity subcomponents, and health in Yup'ik people may help health care workers provide health education and optimal health care to community residents. To understand the role of physical activity and its relationship to obesity and health in Yup'ik people, it is necessary to have accurate and reliable measurements of adiposity and objective measures of physical activity. This dissertation is subdivided into three chapters with three goals: 1) to evaluate tools to reliably assess body composition and how body composition is associated with health in Yup'ik people; 2) to determine the accuracy of objectively measured PAEE in Yup'ik people; and 3) to objectively measure activity levels and determine how physical activity is associated with health in Yup'ik people.

Study Objectives

In Chapter 2, my collaborators and I evaluate the accuracy of different methods used to assess body composition and how the measurements are associated with health-related variables for chronic diseases such as T2D, heart disease, and stroke. In a sub-sample of Yup'ik participants, simple ways of estimating body composition, specifically fat free mass (FFM), fat mass (FM), and percent body fat (PBF), are investigated. Body composition is estimated using a tetra-polar bioelectric impedance analyzer and from linear regression models. In the regression models body composition values derived from DLW were determined using age, sex, and anthropometrics including height, weight, body circumferences, and skinfold measurements. These estimates of body composition are compared with criterion estimates of body composition estimated from the doubly labeled water (DLW) method. In a larger sample of Yup'ik people, associations between body size measurements and health-related variables are determined. This manuscript has been accepted for publication in the journal Obesity (85).

Chapter 3 describes the validation of a combined ACC/HR monitor, the Actiheart, for assessing physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) in Yup'ik people. The DLW method is widely considered the most accurate method to estimate free-living energy expenditure in humans. Therefore the DLW method was used as criterion method for estimating PAEE to evaluate the accuracy of the Actiheart monitor. PAEE estimates using different analysis methods, including branched models (which use both the HR and ACC to determine PAEE), HR only, and ACC only, are compared with PAEE estimates from DLW. The most accurate model for estimating PAEE, compared with DLW, is established for use in future research involving Yup'ik people.

The focus of Chapter 4 is on physical activity and its association with health. We determined the associations between objectively measured physical activity subcomponents and obesity-related health variables and in order to determine which physical activity subcomponent is most important for health.

As lifestyles change and the prevalence of obesity and T2D increases in southwestern Alaska and around the world, it is increasingly important to have tools that can accurately assess body composition and physical activity in locations that are rural or have no access to large or expensive equipment. These tools will aid health care providers to identify individuals who may be at risk for obesity-related health complications as well as help in the development of culturally relevant physical activity recommendations and interventions that are effective at helping to maintain a healthy lifestyle.

.

References

 Obesity and Overweight for Professionals: Adult: Defining - DNPAO - CDC [Internet]. [cited 2012 Sep 30]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/adult/defining.html

2. WHO | Obesity and overweight [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2012 Sep 27]. Available from:

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/index.html

3. Kelly T, Yang W, Chen C-S, Reynolds K, He J. Global burden of obesity in 2005 and projections to 2030. Int J Obes (Lond). 2008;32(9):1431–7.

4. Finkelstein EA, Khavjou OA, Thompson H, Trogdon JG, Pan L, Sherry B, et al. Obesity and severe obesity forecasts through 2030. Am J Prev Med. 2012;42(6):563–70.

5. Wang YC, McPherson K, Marsh T, Gortmaker SL, Brown M. Health and economic burden of the projected obesity trends in the USA and the UK. Lancet. 2011;378(9793):815–25.

6. Wang Y, Beydoun MA, Liang L, Caballero B, Kumanyika SK. Will all Americans become overweight or obese? Estimating the progression and cost of the US obesity epidemic. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2008;16(10):2323–30.

7. Wijnhoven TMA, Van Raaij JMA, Spinelli A, Rito Al, Hovengen R, Kunesova M, et al. WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative 2008: weight, height and body mass index in 6-9-year-old children. Pediatr Obes. 2013;8(2):79–97.

8. De Onis M, Blössner M, Borghi E. Global prevalence and trends of overweight and obesity among preschool children. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2010;92(5):1257–64.

9. Obesity and Overweight for Professionals: Data and Statistics: Adult Obesity - DNPAO - CDC [Internet]. [cited 2012 Oct 1]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html

10. Slattery ML, Ferucci ED, Murtaugh MA, Edwards S, Ma K-N, Etzel RA, et al. Associations among body mass index, waist circumference, and health indicators

in American Indian and Alaska Native adults. Am J Health Promot. 2010 ;24(4):246–54.

11. Risica P, Schraer C, Ebbesson S, Nobmann E, Caballero B. Overweight and obesity among Alaskan Eskimos of the Bering Straits Region: the Alaska Siberia project. Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord. 2000;8:939-44.

12. Government of Canada PHA of C. Obesity in Canada - Healthy Living -Public Health Agency of Canada [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2012 Oct 10]. Available from: http://www.phac-aspc.gc.ca/hp-ps/hl-mvs/oic-oac/abo-aut-eng.php

13. Statistics c=AU; o=Commonwealth of A ou=Australian B of. Chapter -OVERWEIGHT/OBESITY [Internet]. [cited 2012 Oct 10]. Available from: http://www.abs.gov.au/ausstats/abs@.nsf/0/4D562E9436FD1BA7CA257439001 4BCE3?opendocument

14. Boffetta P, McLerran D, Chen Y, Inoue M, Sinha R, He J, et al. Body mass index and diabetes in Asia: a cross-sectional pooled analysis of 900,000 individuals in the Asia Cohort Consortium. PLoS ONE. 2011;6(6):e19930.

15. Ni Mhurchu C, Parag V, Nakamura M, Patel A, Rodgers A, Lam TH. Body mass index and risk of diabetes mellitus in the Asia-Pacific region. Asia Pac J Clin Nutr. 2006;15(2):127–33.

16. Ni Mhurchu C, Rodgers A, Pan WH, Gu DF, Woodward M. Body mass index and cardiovascular disease in the Asia-Pacific Region: an overview of 33 cohorts involving 310 000 participants. Int J Epidemiol. 2004;33(4):751–8.

17. Arnlöv J, Ingelsson E, Sundström J, Lind L. Impact of body mass index and the metabolic syndrome on the risk of cardiovascular disease and death in middle-aged men. Circulation. 2010;121(2):230–6.

18. Kurth T, Gaziano JM, Rexrode KM, Kase CS, Cook NR, Manson JE, et al. Prospective study of body mass index and risk of stroke in apparently healthy women. Circulation. 2005;111(15):1992–8.

19. Wang C, Liu Y, Yang Q, Dai X, Wu S, Wang W, et al. Body mass index and risk of total and type-specific stroke in Chinese adults: results from a longitudinal study in China. Int J Stroke. 2012 Oct 8; doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4949.2012.00830.x

20. Pischon T, Lahmann PH, Boeing H, Friedenreich C, Norat T, Tjønneland A, et al. Body size and risk of colon and rectal cancer in the European Prospective Investigation Into Cancer and Nutrition (EPIC). J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 2006;98(13):920–31.

21. Larsson SC, Wolk A. Obesity and colon and rectal cancer risk: a metaanalysis of prospective studies. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 2007;86(3):556–65.

22. Harvie M, Hooper L, Howell AH. Central obesity and breast cancer risk: a systematic review. Obes Rev. 2003;4(3):157–73.

23. Patterson RE, Frank LL, Kristal AR, White E. A comprehensive examination of health conditions associated with obesity in older adults. Am J Prev Med. 2004;27(5):385–90.

24. Schulz LO, Bennett PH, Ravussin E, Kidd JR, Kidd KK, Esparza J, et al. Effects of traditional and western environments on prevalence of type 2 diabetes in Pima Indians in Mexico and the U.S. Diabetes Care. 2006;29(8):1866–71.

25. Ravussin E, Valencia ME, Esparza J, Bennett PH, Schulz LO. Effects of a traditional lifestyle on obesity in Pima Indians. Diabetes Care. 1994;17(9):1067–74.

26. Boyer BB, Mohatt GV, Plaetke R, Herron J, Stanhope KL, Stephensen C, et al. Metabolic syndrome in Yup'ik Eskimos: the Center for Alaska Native Health Research (CANHR) Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007;15(11):2535–40.

27. Cowie CC, Rust KF, Ford ES, Eberhardt MS, Byrd-Holt DD, Li C, et al. Full accounting of diabetes and pre-diabetes in the U.S. population in 1988-1994 and 2005-2006. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(2):287–94.

28. National Diabetes Statistics, 2011 - National Diabetes Information Clearinghouse [Internet]. [cited 2012 Sep 30]. Available from: http://diabetes.niddk.nih.gov/dm/pubs/statistics/#fast

29. Info Hub | The Alaska Native Medical Center [Internet]. [cited 2012 Oct6]. Available from: http://www.anmc.org/auxiliary/info-hub

30. Turin TC, Tonelli M, Manns BJ, Ravani P, Ahmed SB, Hemmelgarn BR. Chronic kidney disease and life expectancy. Nephrol. Dial. Transplant. 2012;27(8):3182–6. 31. Thompson D, Edelsberg J, Colditz GA, Bird AP, Oster G. Lifetime health and economic consequences of obesity. Arch. Intern. Med. 1999 Oct 11;159(18):2177–83.

32. Flegal KM, Carroll MD, Ogden CL, Curtin LR. Prevalence and trends in obesity among US adults, 1999-2008. JAMA. 2010;303(3):235–41.

33. WHO/WPRO - 2008 - Australia - Health situation and trend [Internet]. [cited 2011 May 4]. Available from: http://www.wpro.who.int/countries/2008/aus/health_situation.htm

34. Deurenberg P, Deurenberg-Yap M. Differences in body-composition assumptions across ethnic groups: practical consequences. Clinical Nutrition & Metabolic Care. 2001;4(5):377-383.

35. US Dept of Health and Human Services. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans.

36. Global recommendations on physical activity and health. World Health Organization. Switzerland: WHO Press; 2010.

37. Health and Human Services. Physcial Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Report 2008. 2008.

38. Li J, Siegrist J. Physical activity and risk of cardiovascular disease--a metaanalysis of prospective cohort studies. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2012;9(2):391–407.

39. Oguma Y, Shinoda-Tagawa T. Physical activity decreases cardiovascular disease risk in women: review and meta-analysis. Am J Prev Med. 2004;26(5):407–18.

40. Lee D, Park I, Jun T-W, Nam B-H, Cho S, Blair SN, et al. Physical activity and body mass index and their associations with the development of type 2 diabetes in korean men. Am. J. Epidemiol. 2012;176(1):43–51.

41. Fogelholm M. Physical activity, fitness and fatness: relations to mortality, morbidity and disease risk factors. A systematic review. Obes Rev. 2010;11(3):202–21.

42. Neeland IJ, Turer AT, Ayers CR, Powell-Wiley TM, Vega GL, Farzaneh-Far R, et al. Dysfunctional adiposity and the risk of prediabetes and type 2 diabetes in obese adults. JAMA. 2012;308(11):1150–9.

43. Nicklas BJ, Cesari M, Penninx BWJH, Kritchevsky SB, Ding J, Newman A, et al. Abdominal obesity is an independent risk factor for chronic heart failure in older people. J Am Geriatr Soc. 2006;54(3):413–20.

44. Carr MC, Brunzell JD. Abdominal obesity and dyslipidemia in the metabolic syndrome: importance of type 2 diabetes and familial combined hyperlipidemia in coronary artery disease risk. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2004;89(6):2601–7.

45. Irwin ML, Yasui Y, Ulrich CM, Bowen D, Rudolph RE, Schwartz RS, et al. Effect of exercise on total and intra-abdominal body fat in postmenopausal women: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA. 2003;289(3):323–30.

46. McTiernan A, Sorensen B, Irwin ML, Morgan A, Yasui Y, Rudolph RE, et al. Exercise effect on weight and body fat in men and women. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007;15(6):1496–512.

47. Slentz CA, Houmard JA, Kraus WE. Exercise, abdominal obesity, skeletal muscle, and metabolic risk: evidence for a dose response. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2009;17 Suppl 3:S27–33.

48. Ross R, Janssen I, Dawson J, Kungl A-M, Kuk JL, Wong SL, et al. Exerciseinduced reduction in obesity and insulin resistance in women: a randomized controlled trial. Obes. Res. 2004;12(5):789–98.

49. Gómez-Cabello A, Ara I, González-Agüero A, Casajús JA, Vicente-Rodríguez G. Effects of training on bone mass in older adults: a systematic review. Sports Med. 2012;42(4):301–25.

50. Clemson L, Fiatarone Singh MA, Bundy A, Cumming RG, Manollaras K, O'Loughlin P, et al. Integration of balance and strength training into daily life activity to reduce rate of falls in older people (the LiFE study): randomised parallel trial. BMJ. 2012;345:e4547.

51. Paluska SA, Schwenk TL. Physical activity and mental health: current concepts. Sports Med. 2000;29(3):167–80.

52. Carek PJ, Laibstain SE, Carek SM. Exercise for the treatment of depression and anxiety. Int J Psychiatry Med. 2011;41(1):15–28.

53. Stessman J, Hammerman-Rozenberg R, Cohen A, Ein-Mor E, Jacobs JM. Physical activity, function, and longevity among the very old. Arch. Intern. Med. 2009;169(16):1476–83.

54. Lee IM, Paffenbarger RS Jr, Hennekens CH. Physical activity, physical fitness and longevity. Aging (Milano). 1997;9(1-2):2–11.

55. Motl RW, McAuley E. Physical activity, disability, and quality of life in older adults. Phys Med Rehabil Clin N Am. 2010;21(2):299–308.

56. Elavsky S, McAuley E, Motl RW, Konopack JF, Marquez DX, Hu L, et al. Physical activity enhances long-term quality of life in older adults: efficacy, esteem, and affective influences. Ann Behav Med. 2005;30(2):138–45.

57. Gopinath B, Hardy LL, Baur LA, Burlutsky G, Mitchell P. Physical activity and sedentary behaviors and health-related quality of life in adolescents. Pediatrics. 2012;130(1):e167–174.

58. Physical Activity for Everyone: The Benefits of Physical Activity | DNPAO | CDC [Internet]. [cited 2012 Sep 27]. Available from: http://www.cdc.gov/physicalactivity/everyone/health/index.html

59. Celis-Morales CA, Perez-Bravo F, Ibañez L, Salas C, Bailey MES, Gill JMR. Objective vs. self-reported physical activity and sedentary time: effects of measurement method on relationships with risk biomarkers. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(5):e36345.

60. Loney T, Standage M, Thompson D, Sebire SJ, Cumming S. Self-report vs. objectively assessed physical activity: which is right for public health? J Phys Act Health. 2011;8(1):62–70.

61. Nicaise V, Marshall S, Ainsworth BE. Domain-specific physical activity and self-report bias among low-income Latinas living in San Diego County. J Phys Act Health. 2011;8(7):881–90.

62. Advisory Committee Report [Internet]. [cited 2012 Sep 30]. Available from: http://www.health.gov/paguidelines/Report/Default.aspx
63. Weir JB de V. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol. 1949;109(1-2):1–9.

64. Speakman JR. The history and theory of the doubly labeled water technique. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 1998;68(4):932S–938S.

65. Chen KY, Janz KF, Zhu W, Brychta RJ. Re-defining the Role of Sensors in Objective Physical Activity Monitoring. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2012;44(1 Suppl 1):S13–S23.

66. Brage S, Brage N, Franks PW, Ekelund U, Wong M-Y, Andersen LB, et al. Branched equation modeling of simultaneous accelerometry and heart rate monitoring improves estimate of directly measured physical activity energy expenditure. J. Appl. Physiol. 2004;96(1):343–51.

67. Ceesay SM, Prentice AM, Day KC, Murgatroyd PR, Goldberg GR, Scott W, et al. The use of heart rate monitoring in the estimation of energy expenditure: a validation study using indirect whole-body calorimetry. British Journal of Nutrition. 1989;61(02):175–86.

68. Dugas LR, Van der Merwe L, Odendaal H, Noakes TD, Lambert EV. A novel energy expenditure prediction equation for intermittent physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2005;37(12):2154–61.

69. Achten J, Jeukendrup AE. Heart rate monitoring: applications and limitations. Sports Med. 2003;33(7):517–38.

70. Brage S, Ekelund U, Brage N, Hennings MA, Froberg K, Franks PW, et al. Hierarchy of individual calibration levels for heart rate and accelerometry to measure physical activity. J. Appl. Physiol. 2007;103(2):682–92.

71. Livingstone MB, Prentice AM, Coward WA, Ceesay SM, Strain JJ, McKenna PG, et al. Simultaneous measurement of free-living energy expenditure by the doubly labeled water method and heart-rate monitoring. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 1990;52(1):59–65.

72. Rowlands AV, Stone MR, Eston RG. Influence of speed and step frequency during walking and running on motion sensor output. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(4):716–27.

73. Fudge BW, Wilson J, Easton C, Irwin L, Clark J, Haddow O, et al. Estimation of oxygen uptake during fast running using accelerometry and heart rate. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(1):192–8.

74. Haskell WL, Yee MC, Evans A, Irby PJ. Simultaneous measurement of heart rate and body motion to quantitate physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1993;25(1):109–15.

75. Luke A, Maki KC, Barkey N, Cooper R, McGee D. Simultaneous monitoring of heart rate and motion to assess energy expenditure. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1997;29(1):144–8.

76. Rennie K, Rowsell T, Jebb SA, Holburn D, Wareham NJ. A combined heart rate and movement sensor: proof of concept and preliminary testing study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000;54(5):409–14.

77. Strath SJ, Bassett DR Jr, Thompson DL, Swartz AM. Validity of the simultaneous heart rate-motion sensor technique for measuring energy expenditure. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2002;34(5):888–94.

78. Brage S, Brage N, Franks PW, Ekelund U, Wareham NJ. Reliability and validity of the combined heart rate and movement sensor Actiheart. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2005;59(4):561–70.

79. Assah FK, Ekelund U, Brage S, Wright A, Mbanya JC, Wareham NJ. Accuracy and validity of a combined heart rate and motion sensor for the measurement of free-living physical activity energy expenditure in adults in Cameroon. Int J Epidemiol. 2011;40(1):112–20.

80. Villars C, Bergouignan A, Dugas J, Antoun E, Schoeller DA, Roth H, et al. Validity of combining heart rate and uniaxial acceleration to measure free-living physical activity energy expenditure in young men. Journal of Applied Physiology. 2012;113(11):1763-71.

81. Wareham NJ, Rennie KL. The assessment of physical activity in individuals and populations: why try to be more precise about how physical activity is assessed? Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 1998;22 Suppl 2:S30–38.

82. Disparities Report Highlights Health Care Challenges For Racial and Ethnic Minorities. Press Release, April 20, 2012. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, MD. <u>http://www.ahrq.gov/news/press/pr2012/qrdr11pr.htm</u>

83. O'Dea K, Spargo RM, Nestel PJ. Impact of Westernization on carbohydrate and lipid metabolism in Australian Aborigines. Diabetologia. 1982;22(3):148–53.

84. O'Dea K. Westernisation, insulin resistance and diabetes in Australian Aborigines. Med. J. Aust. 1991;155(4):258–64.

85. Bray M, Pomeroy J, Knowler WC, Bersamin A, Hopkins S, Boyer BB, et al. Simple anthropometrics are more correlated with health variables than are estimates of body composition in Yup'ik people. Obesity. In Press.*

Research Approval

The study protocol was approved by the University of Alaska Fairbanks IRB (protocol number 185087) and the Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation Human Studies Committee and participants provided written informed consent.

2 Simple Anthropometrics are more Correlated with Health Variables than are Estimates of Body Composition in Yup'ik People¹

Abstract

We aimed to: 1) evaluate the relationships between several indices of obesity with obesity-related risk factors; 2) compare the accuracy of body composition estimates derived from anthropometry and bioimpedance analysis (BIA) to estimates of body composition assessed by doubly-labeled water (DLW); and 3) establish equations for estimating fat mass (FM), fat-free mass (FFM), and percent body fat (PBF) in Yup'ik people. Participants included 1056 adult Yup'ik People from 11 communities in southwestern Alaska. In a substudy of 30 participants, we developed population-specific linear regression models for estimating FM, FFM, and PBF from anthropometrics, age, sex, and BIA against criterion measures derived from total body water assessed with DLW. These models were then used with the population cohort and we analyzed the relationships between obesity indices and several health-related and disease status variables: 1. fasting plasma lipids, 2. glucose, 3. HbA1c, 4. adiponectin, 5. blood pressure, 6) diabetes (DM), and 7) cerebrocoronary vascular disease

¹Bray M, Pomeroy J, Knowler WC, Bersamin A, Hopkins S, Boyer BB, et al. Simple anthropometrics are more correlated with health variables than are estimates of body composition in Yup'ik people. Obesity. In Press.

(CCVD) which includes stroke and heart disease. The best model for estimating FM in the substudy used only three variables – sex, waist circumference (WC), and hip circumference and had multiple R²=0.9730. FFM and PBF were calculated from FM and body weight. WC and other anthropometrics were more highly correlated with a number of obesity-related risk factors than were direct estimates of body composition. We conclude that body composition in Yup'ik people can be accurately estimated from simple anthropometrics.

Introduction

In an effort to help prevent further increases in the prevalence of obesity and associated comorbidities in minority and isolated populations with limited health care resources, identifying accurate, yet simple methods to quantify body adiposity and obesity-related health risk are desirable.

It is unknown whether simple, indirect measures of obesity predict obesity-related health risk as accurately as direct measures in Alaska Native people. We, therefore, determined if anthropometry and bioimpedance analysis (BIA) can accurately assess body composition in Yup'ik people. We assessed the relationships of direct and indirect measures of adiposity with obesity-related health variables, including diabetes (DM), cerebrocoronary vascular disease (CCVD) (stroke and heart disease), fasting plasma lipids, glucose, HbA1c, blood pressure, and adiponectin, an adipocyte derived hormone positively associated with insulin sensitivity and HDL cholesterol levels [1].

Methods

A cross-sectional health study was conducted from 2003-2007 among 1056 Yup'ik people aged 18-94 years living in 11 rural Yup'ik communities in southwestern Alaska. Participants included men and non-pregnant women (by self-report). In a substudy of 30 participants, anthropometry, age, and sex were used to estimate fat mass (FM) determined by the doubly labeled water (DLW) method, which was considered the true value. FM estimates using anthropometry were more strongly correlated with DLW FM (r=0.986) than were estimated FFM or percent body fat (PBF) estimates with DLW values. Therefore, we chose to estimate FM rather than FFM or PBF. Fat-free mass (FFM) and PBF were calculated from body weight and FM. We compared these estimates and PBF estimated by BIA with the "true" FM, FFM, and PBF by correlation analysis. We estimated body composition for each person in the population sample using BIA and the predictive equations derived in the substudy and correlated these estimates and simple anthropometrics with the health-related and disease variables: blood pressure, lipids, fasting plasma glucose, HbA1c, adiponectin, DM, and CCVD. The Tanita TBF-300A tetrapolar foot-to-foot BIA analyzer (Tanita Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) was used to measure impedance (ohms) and obesityrelated risk factors were measured as previously described [2]. The same

observers for laboratory methods were used to obtain all measurements. Total body water (kg) was determined using the DLW method [3]. FFM was calculated as (total body water)/0.73, assuming a hydration constant of 0.73, and FM was calculated as body weight -FFM. (DLW details in online appendix)

Disease diagnoses were abstracted from medical records. The following ICD-9 codes (2010) were included for disease diagnosis: DM – 250; CCVD – 410-414, 425, 426, 428, 429, 433, 434, 436-438, 786, and V45.82.

Statistical analyses

The best parsimonious regression model estimating FM in the substudy was determined by stepwise multiple linear regression and evaluated for multicollinearity by standard methods and for agreement with the DLWdetermined FM with the Bland-Altman method. Variables considered for inclusion were age, sex, weight, height, waist circumference (WC), BMI, waist-toheight ratio, hip circumference (HC), arm circumference, thigh circumference, raw impedance, total body water, BIA estimates of FM, FFM, and PBF (FM_{BIA}, FFM_{BIA}, PBF_{BIA}). A second model also used skinfold thickness, but because this model performed only slightly better and skinfold thickness measurements add to protocol time and participant burden, we did not consider it further. This estimate of FM, the derived estimates of FFM and PBF, anthropometrics, and body composition estimates from BIA were correlated with the obesity-related risk factors using Spearman's correlation coefficients partialled for age and sex. The association of the obesity indices with the disease variables was determined using logistic regression that included age and sex as covariates. All continuous variables were standardized to have mean=0 and SD=1, and odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals are reported.

All protocols were approved by the Alaska Area, Indian Health Service and the University of Alaska Fairbanks Institutional Review Boards (UAF IRB Approval # 185087), and the Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation Human Studies Committee. Participants provided written informed consent.

Results

The model to estimate DLW-determined FM from demographic and anthropometric data in the substudy of 30 participants used only three variables: FM(kg) = -47.99639 -8.96151*male +0.58113*WC(cm) +0.254638*HC(cm). Multiple R² was 0.9730. Furthermore, DLW-derived FM was highly correlated with BMI, WC, HC, WC*HC, waist-to-height ratio, and BIA-estimated PBF (all r>0.9), but less strongly correlated with waist-to-hip ratio (r=0.58). Correlations of the aforementioned anthropometrics with DLW-derived FFM and PBF were lower (all r<0.80) than with DLW-derived FM.

Correlations and standardized odds ratios of the multiple obesity indices with obesity-related risk factors from the population study are shown in **Table 2-1**. None of the correlations were significant for total cholesterol (data not shown). The simple anthropometric measurements were as strongly correlated with each of the obesity-related risk factors (other than LDL cholesterol) as were the more sophisticated measures of adiposity (FM, FFM, and PBF). In fact WC was consistently among the most highly correlated obesity indices with obesityrelated risk factors. For the disease variables, the strongest odds ratios were seen from the modeled PBF (OR=2.51) and the modeled FFM (OR=1.54) with DM and CCVD respectively.

Overall, most of the correlations and odds ratios for each of the obesityrelated risk factors and disease variables were of similar magnitude regardless of the body index used.

Discussion

In general, the simple measures of WC and other anthropometrics were as strongly associated with obesity-related risk factors as the more complex estimates, suggesting that for a particular application and study setting, the method used to estimate body composition or obesity can be chosen on the basis of feasibility or availability of equipment or trained observers. Moreover, body composition estimates (FM, FFM, and PBF) from the DLW substudy and from BIA were highly associated with several obesity-related risk factors and presence of diseases in this study population.

Our results agree with other reports that simple measurements that estimate body adiposity are strongly correlated with FM and PBF estimates from DLW, and that these same measures are as strongly associated with obesityrelated risk factors and disease variables as more direct measurements of adiposity [4,5]. Some investigators have assumed that direct measures of adiposity provide better predictive power than indirect measures when assessing associations between obesity and health risk [6]. However, in the present study, anthropometric estimates of body adiposity (WC, BMI, HC, WC*HC, and waist to height ratio) were at least as strongly associated with several obesity-related risk factors and disease variables as were the estimates of FM, FFM, and PBF derived from anthropometrics and DLW. The risk factors were more highly correlated with the simple anthropometrics in their original forms than when transformed to estimate body composition according to DLW. Similar findings that simple anthropometrics are highly associated with obesity-related risk factors have been reported with other methods including DXA and BIA [7-9]. The body size estimates mostly strongly related to disease were derived from the DLW model (PBF for diabetes, and FFM for CCVD). Several investigators have concluded that WC and other anthropometrics are among the best predictors of metabolic health outcomes [7,10-12]. Our results support the hypothesis that simple, indirect measures of adiposity such as WC, BMI and other anthropometrics are strongly associated with selected obesity-related risk factors and disease variables and are thus likely to predict clinical endpoints in Yup'ik people.

Waist circumference estimates abdominal distribution of fat that is not captured by estimates of total adiposity [13]. The variables that best estimate fat mass are not necessarily the same as those that are related to health measures. It is likely that the regional distribution of body fat, rather than total adiposity, is more important for health outcomes. However, body composition estimates including FM, FFM, and PBF, may also be important in physiologic, genetic, and longitudinal studies.

Strengths of the study include the large sample size and that several different obesity indices were evaluated simultaneously, many types of obesityrelated biomarkers were analyzed, and the same standard protocols were used to measure the anthropometric variables in both the DLW and population studies.

The small sample size of the DLW subset did not allow us to evaluate sex specific models to estimate body composition. Also, while we used leave-oneout cross-validation methods to choose full and reduced models to predict body composition with the lowest generalization error (not shown), it is still possible that due to small sample size we still may have overfit the models.

In summary, obesity-related risk can be assessed accurately in Yup'ik people with simple anthropometric measures. Simple anthropometrics or BIA can also provide accurate estimates of adiposity. These findings may facilitate research and health counseling in remote areas where more sophisticated measures of body composition are impractical.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by Award Number R01DK074842 and P20RR016430 (Boyer). Dr. Peter Havel's laboratory receives support from National Institutes of Health grants HL075675, HL091333, HL107256, AT003545, and DK097307. This work was supported in part by the Intramural Research Program of the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases and to the University of Alaska President's Professors Fund for travel by Dr. William Knowler. The Presidents' Professors Fund is supported by unrestricted donations from British Petroleum and Conoco-Phillips. We thank the community field research assistants and the computer/data management and administrative staff members: Michelle Dondanville, Jynene Black, Johanna Heron, Cristiane Kaufmann, and Salena Bias. Antony Wright (MRC Epidemiology Unit, Cambridge) is acknowledged for expert advice on the processing of the DLW data. We also thank Christa Mulder for her critical editing contribution. Finally, we are grateful to the members and leaders of Yup'ik communities of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta region in Southwest Alaska for their cooperation and participation in our study. Quyana!

Conflict of interest

None of the authors has any financial interest in this work.

•

References

- Swarbrick MM, Havel PJ. (2008) Physiological, pharmacological, and nutritional regulation of circulating adiponectin concentrations in humans. Metab Syndr Relat Disord. 6:87-102.
- Boyer BB, Mohatt GV, Plaetke R, Herron J, Stanhope KL, et al. (2007) Metabolic syndrome in Yup'ik Eskimos: the Center for Alaska Native Health Research (CANHR) Study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 15: 2535-2540.
- 3. Coward WA (1988) Stable isotopic methods for measuring energy expenditure. The doubly-labelled-water (2H2(18)O) method: principles and practice. Proc Nutr Soc 47: 209-218.
- 4. Spiegelman D, Israel RG, Bouchard C, Willett WC (1992) Absolute fat mass, percent body fat, and body-fat distribution: which is the real determinant of blood pressure and serum glucose? Am. J. Clin. Nutr 55: 1033-1044.
- Steinberger J, Jacobs DR, Raatz S, Moran A, Hong C-P, et al. (2005) Comparison of body fatness measurements by BMI and skinfolds vs dual energy X-ray absorptiometry and their relation to cardiovascular risk factors in adolescents. Int J Obes (Lond) 29: 1346-1352.
- 6. Prentice AM, Jebb SA (2001) Beyond body mass index. Obesity Reviews 2: 141-147.
- Sun Q, van Dam RM, Spiegelman D, Heymsfield SB, Willett WC, et al. (2010) Comparison of Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometric and Anthropometric Measures of Adiposity in Relation to Adiposity-Related Biologic Factors. Am J Epidemiol. 172: 1442-1454.
- 8. Shen W, Punyanitya M, Chen J, Gallagher D, Albu J, et al. (2006) Waist circumference correlates with metabolic syndrome indicators better than percentage fat. Obesity (Silver Spring) 14: 727-736.
- 9. Lindsay RS, Hanson RL, Roumain J, Ravussin E, Knowler WC, et al. (2001) Body mass index as a measure of adiposity in children and adolescents: relationship to adiposity by dual energy x-ray absorptiometry and to cardiovascular risk factors. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab 86: 4061-4067.

- Haroun D, Taylor SJC, Viner RM, Hayward RS, Darch TS, et al. (2010) Validation of bioelectrical impedance analysis in adolescents across different ethnic groups. Obesity (Silver Spring) 18: 1252-1259.
- Taylor RW, Brooking L, Williams SM, Manning PJ, Sutherland WH, et al. (2010) Body mass index and waist circumference cutoffs to define obesity in indigenous New Zealanders. Am. J. Clin. Nutr 92: 390-397.
- Ashwell M, Gunn P, Gibson S. (2012) Waist-to-height ratio is a better screening tool than waist circumference and BMI for adult cardiometabolic risk factors: systematic review and meta-analysis. Obesity Reviews 13: 275-286.
- 13. Roopakala MS, Suresh A, Ashtalakshmi, Srinath, Ashok, et al. (2009) Anthropometric measurements as predictors of intraabdominal fat thickness. Indian J. Physiol. Pharmacol 53: 259-264.

	4		Risk Factors						← Diseases →	
	HDL	LDL	triglyceride	glucose	HbA1c	adiponectin	syst bp	diast bp	DM	CCVD
Body Size										
BMI	-0.39	0.15	0.39	0.23	0.12	-0.4	0.23	0.39	1.74	1.38
	(-0.44, -0.34)	(0.09, 0.21)	(0.34, 0.44)	(0.17, 0.28)	(0.06, 0.18)	(-0.45, -0.34)	(0.18, 0.29)	(0.34, 0.44)	(1.18, 2.56)	(1.04, 1.84)
WC	-0.43	0.17	0.41	0.24	0.14	-0.43	0.23	0.39	1.98	1.37
	(-0.47, -0.38)	(0.11, 0.22)	(0.36, 0.46)	(0.18, 0.30)	(0.08, 0.19)	(-0.48, -0.38)	(0.17, 0.28)	(0.34, 0.44)	(1.32, 2.98)	{1.02, 1.84}
Hip Circumference	-0.36	0.15	0.34	0.19	0.08	-0.34	0.20	0.34	1.64	1.38
	(-0.42, -0.31)	(0.09, 0.21)	(0.28, 0.39)	(0.13, 0.25)	(0.02, 0.14)	(-0.40, -0.29)	(0.15, 0.26)	(0.29, 0.39)	(1.13, 2.38)	(1.03, 1.83)
Total Skinfold	-0.37	0.16	0.38	0.19	0.11	-0.43	0.22	0.38	1.83	1.35
	(-0.42, -0.32)	(0.10, 0.22)	(0.33, 0.43)	(0.13, 0.25)	(0.05, 0.17)	(-0.48, -0.38)	(0.16, 0.28)	(0.33, 0.43)	(1.17, 2.88)	(0.99, 1.84)
Waist to Hip Ratio	-0.34	0.16	0.38	0.22	0.15	-0.39	0.18	0.32	1.91	1.19
	(-0.39, -0.28)	(0.10, 0.21)	(0.32, 0.43)	(0.16, 0.28)	(0.09, 0.21)	(-0.44, -0.34)	(0.12, 0.24)	(0.26, 0.37)	(1.27, 2.88)	(0.86, 1.63)
Waist*Hip	-0.42	0.17	0.40	0.23	0.11	-0.41	0.22	0.38	1.71	1.43
	(-0.46, -0.36)	(0.11, 0.22)	(0.34, 0.44)	(0.17, 0.28)	(0.05, 0.17)	(-0.46, -0.36)	(0.17, 0.28)	(0.33, 0.43)	(1.21, 2.42)	(1.10, 1.88)
Waist to Height Ratio	-0.40	0.16	0.41	0.24	0.14	-0.42	0.23	0.40	2.00	1.34
	(-0.45, -0.35)	(0.10, 0.22)	(0.36, 0.46)	(0.18, 0.29)	(0.08, 0.20)	(-0.47, -0.37)	(0.17, 0. 29)	(0.35, 0.45)	(1.31, 3.06)	(0.99, 1.82)
FM (model)	-0.42	0.16	0.41	0.23	0.12	-0.42	0.21	0.38	1.89	1.38
	(-0.47, -0.37)	(0.10, 0.22)	(0.36, 0.46)	(0.17, 0.28)	(0.06, 0.18)	(-0.47, -0.37)	(0.16, 0.27)	(0.33, 0.43)	(1.28, 2.80)	(1.03, 1.84)
FM (BIA)	-0.39	0.17	0.39	0.22	0.12	-0.41	0.20	0.39	1.77	1.40
	(-0.44, -0.34)	(0.11, 0.22)	(0.33 <i>,</i> 0.44)	(0.16, 0.28)	(0.06, 0.17)	(-0.46, -0.36)	(0.15, 0.26)	(0.33, 0.44)	(1.23, 2.54)	(1.06, 1.84)
FFM (model)	-0.29	0.07	0.25	0.14	0.07	-0.27	0.13	0.24	1.36	1.54
	(-0.34, -0.23)	(0.01, 0.13)	(0.20, 0.31)	(0.08, 0.19)	(0.01, 0.13)	(-0.32, - 0.21)	(0.07, 0.1 9)	(0.18, 0.29)	(0.85, 2.19)	(1.12, 2.11)
FFM (BIA)	-0.35	0.07	0.30	0.16	0.09	-0.31	0.16	0.25	1.46	1.47
-	(-0.40, -0.29)	(0.01, 0.13)	(0.25, 0.36)	(0.10, 0.22)	(0.03, 0.15)	(-0.37, -0.26)	(0.10, 0.22)	(0.20, 0.31)	(0.95, 2.24)	(1.08, 2.00)
PBF (model)	-0.40	0.15	0.40	0.22	0.12	-0.41	0.23	0.36	2.51	1.12
	(-0.45, -0.35)	(0.10, 0.21)	(0.35, 0.45)	(0.17, 0.28)	(0.06, 0.18)	(-0.46, -0.36)	(0.17, 0.29)	(0.31, 0.41)	(1.40, 4.50)	(0.80, 1.56)
PBF (BIA)	-0.38	0.17	0.37	0.23	0.13	-0.41	0.21	0.38	2.25	1.21
	(-0.43, -0.32)	(0.11, 0.22)	(0.32, 0.43)	(0.17, 0.29)	(0.07, 0.19)	(-0.46, -0.36)	(0.15, 0.27)	(0.33, 0.43)	(1.37, 3.71)	(0.88, 1.66)

Table 2-1: Associations of Body Size Measures with Obesity-Related Risk Factors and Diseases

N=1056

DM = diabetes mellitus (22 cases); CCVD = cerebrocoronary vascular diseases, which includes stroke and heart disease (49 cases).

Values listed for the continuous variables are Spearman's Correlation coefficients and 95% CI, partialled for age and sex. Values listed for dichotomous variables (DM & CCVD) are odds ratios per standard deviation of the body size measurement with 95% confidence intervals, adjusted for age and sex. The obesity-indices most strongly correlated with each obesity-related risk factor and the obesity indices with the greatest odds ratio for each disease variable are indicated by **bold and italic** text.

FM (model) and FM (BIA) were estimated from the DLW substudy and from BIA, respectively. FFM and PBF were estimated from body weight and these estimates. All correlations were significant at p<0.001 except for FFM (model) and FFM (BIA) with LDL, and FFM (model) and hip circumference with HbA1c, all of which were significant at p<0.02.

Appendices

Supplementary Methods

A cross-sectional health study was conducted from 2003-2007 among 1056 Yup'ik people aged \geq 18 years old living in 11 rural Yup'ik communities in southwestern Alaska. Two separate analyses were conducted in order to address the goals of this study. Participants in both analyses included men and non-pregnant women (by self-report). To determine if anthropometry and BIA could be used to accurately estimate body composition in Yup'ik people a substudy of 30 participants living in one rural Yup'ik community was conducted (doubly labeled water sub-study, or DLW sub-study). In this study cohort, anthropometry and BIA were compared with DLW estimates of FM, FFM, and PBF (FM_{DLW}, FFM_{DLW}, PBF_{DLW}). Results from the DLW sub-study were used in the larger cohort of 1056 Yup'ik people to determine the relationship of direct and indirect measures of adiposity with obesity-related health risk (population study). Obesity-related risk factors that define the metabolic syndrome using the NCEP ATP III criteria [1], as well as diabetes risk factors (HbA1c and adiponectin) and other common lipids were investigated in the population study. Low levels of circulating adiponectin predict subsequent development of type 2 diabetes [2,3], and adiponectin has anti-inflammatory actions [4-6]. Diabetes mellitus, stroke and cardiovascular disease were also investigated in the population study.

All measurements for both the DLW sub-study and the population study were taken using the same methods and observers. Anthropometric, blood pressure, lipid, and hormone measurements were described previously [7]. Briefly, height was measured to the nearest 0.25 inch (6.4 mm) for each participant, and then they were weighed to the nearest 0.1 lb (45 grams) using a Tanita TBF300A bioimpedance analyzer. BMI in kg/m^2 was calculated from weight and height. Waist, hip, thigh, and triceps circumferences were measured to the nearest 1 mm using a Gulick II 150 cm anthropometric tape attached with a tension-meter (Country Technologies, Inc., GaysMills, WI). Abdominal, triceps, subscapular and thigh skinfolds were measured to the nearest 1 mm using a Lange caliper (Beta Technology Inc., Cambridge, USA). Systolic and diastolic blood pressures were taken after participants sat quietly for 5 minutes using an OMRON HEM907 automated blood pressure cuff (Omron Healthcare Inc, Bannockburn, IL). The mean of three blood pressure measurements was used in the analysis.

Lipids, Hormone, Glucose, and Disease Diagnoses

Fasting plasma glucose concentrations were estimated using the Cholestech LDX system (Cholestech Corporation, Hayward, USA). Hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c) levels were measured with a Bayer DCA 2000+ Analyzer (Bayer AG, Leverkusen, Germany). High-density lipoprotein cholesterol (HDL), low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL), triglycerides and total cholesterol values were measured with

40

a Poly-Chem System Chemistry Analyzer (Polymedco Inc., Courtlandt Manor, NY) as previously described [7]. Adiponectin was assayed with a radioimmunoassay kit using a I125-iodinated murine adiponectin tracer, a multi-species adiponectin rabbit antiserum, and human adiponectin standards from Linco Research (Millipore, Inc).

Disease diagnoses were abstracted from medical records. The following ICD-9 codes (2010) were included for disease diagnosis: DM – 250; CCVD – 410-414, 425, 426, 428, 429, 433, 434, 436-438, 786, and V45.82.

Doubly Labeled Water

Total body water in kg was determined from DLW. DLW was prepared by combining 300g of 97% Oxygen-18 water ($H_2^{18}O$) and 240.24g of 99.9% Deuterium water ($^{2}H_{2}O$) (Cambridge Isotope Lab). The total volume was transported in a sterile container to our study location. Prior to DLW administration, each participant provided two baseline urine samples (one the day before DLW administration and a second sample immediately before DLW administration). Weight and height were also measured just prior to DLW administration. DLW was administered to each participant at a quantity of 0.18g of pre-mix DLW per kg body weight (0.1 g ¹⁸O and 0.08 g ²H₂ per kg body weight). The dose was diluted with tap water (~100ml) before drinking and the glass was then filled again with tap water which was also drunk. In addition to the baseline samples, urine samples were collected a mean of 19.2 hours after DLW administration (range 8.2 - 25.7 hours), and again on day 3,5,7,9, & 10. This DLW protocol was used because this study also involved an assessment of freeliving energy expenditure. Urine samples and samples of the dose and local water sources were frozen and transported to the University of Alabama Birmingham. Analysis of isotopic enrichments was carried out in duplicate. For 2 H/ 1 H ratios each sample was equilibrated with H₂ gas at 40 °C for 90 min in the presence of a Pt catalyst. The equilibrated gas samples were then measured by dual inlet isotope ratio mass spectrometry (OPTIMA – 3955, Micromass Inc., Beverly, MA, with Multiprep Interface and Gilson autosampler). For ¹⁸O/¹⁶O ratios, samples were equilibrated with CO_2 at room temperature for >3.5 hrs, and ratio measurements were performed using a continuous flow isotope ratio mass spectrometer (OPTIMA – 3955, Micromass Inc., with μ Gas Interface and Gilson autosampler). All pre- and post-dose samples were included in determining the ²H and ¹⁸O disappearance rates, the intercepts of which were used to calculate observed Oxygen and Hydrogen spaces as described elsewhere [8]. TBW was calculated as the average of the observed Oxygen and Hydrogen spaces, normalized by 1.01 and 1.04 respectively, to account for nonexchangeable ¹⁸O and ²H with water. FFM_{DLW} was determined assuming a hydration constant of 0.73 and using the formula FFM = TBW/0.73, and FM_{DLW} and PBF_{DLW} were calculated from FFM_{DLW} and total body weight.

Bioimpedance Analysis

Impedance (ohms) was measured with a Tanita TBF-300A tetrapolar foot-tofoot BIA analyzer (Tanita Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) on participants wearing only a light hospital gown. Participant height, age, and sex were entered into the instrument, and weight was measured by the instrument.

Statistical Analyses

SAS for Windows (version 9.2) was used for all statistical analyses. Variables were tested for normality; all continuous variables used in the regression analysis in the DLW study were normally distributed, but many of the continuous variables in the population study did not meet model assumptions. Therefore, Spearman's correlation coefficients were used throughout.

One participant's abdominal skinfold thickness was missing in the DLW substudy data set from which the models for FM, FFM, and PBF were determined. This measurement was imputed by regressing all other anthropometric measures, age, and sex from the 29 participants for whom all data were available.

BIA was used to estimate body composition in this population, but we also sought to improve these BIA estimates if possible, and determine the best method for estimating FM, FFM and PBF that can feasibly be used for future studies in Yup'ik people. Two sets of models to estimate FM, FFM, and PBF were selected using stepwise multiple linear regressions (P-to-enter <0.15, P-to-exit >0.05) with DLW values (FM_{DLW}, FFM_{DLW}, PBF_{DLW}) as the dependent variables in the DLW sub study of 30 persons. The first set of models, referred to as the "full" models, used age, sex, weight, height, BMI, WC, hip, arm, and thigh circumferences, impedance, TBW, BIA estimates of FM, FFM, and PBF (FM_{BIA}, FFM_{BIA}, PBF_{BIA}), and abdominal, subscapular, triceps, and thigh skinfolds. The second set, the "reduced" model, used the same variables, excluding skinfold measures. Skinfold measurements add to participant burden and are time consuming, so determining whether skinfold thickness significantly improved the models was important. The models were checked using leave-one-out crossvalidation (PROC GLMSELECT). A variance inflation factor (VIF) of <12.5 was used to check for multicollinearity.

A "full" and a "reduced" estimate of FM, FFM, and PBF (FM_{Full}, FFM_{Full}, and PBF_{Full}, and FM_{Reduced}, FFM_{Reduced}, and PBF_{Reduced}) were determined from the multiple linear regression. Because each of the 6 models were different, FM, FFM and PBF were calculated using body weight and the modeled estimate, yielding 3 sets of full models and 3 sets of reduced models. Each set consisted of an estimate of one of the parameters derived from regression and the other two by simple arithmetic (e.g. FFM = body weight – FM). In total, 18 estimates were calculated; six each for FM, FFM and PBF. The set of full models whose estimates were most highly correlated with the DLW estimates was chosen for further analyses. Similarly, a "best" set of reduced models was chosen.

The Bland-Altman [9] method was used to assess agreement in estimates of FM, FFM, and PBF between BIA and DLW, as well as estimates from the full model and the reduced model.

When the linear models were used to estimate body composition in all members of the population study, negative values for FM and PBF were obtained in one person, a lean man in his 40's. These estimates were used only for the purpose of the correlation analyses and not for reporting back to the individuals, so we used these negative estimates without modification.

Correlation of Anthropometric Measures and Body Composition with Lipids, Hormones, and Blood Pressure in the Population Sample

The body composition estimates derived for use in the population analysis, along with BMI, WC, hip circumference, total skinfold, waist-to-hip ratio, waist-to-height ratio, waist X hip, FM_{BIA} , FFM_{BIA} , and PBF_{BIA} , were compared with one another with respect to their correlations with obesity-related and disease variables. Age and sex were controlled for in this analysis.

Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to determine the associations of the measures of anthropometry and body composition to the obesity-related risk factors (HDL & LDL cholesterol, total cholesterol, triglycerides, fasting glucose, HbA1c, adiponectin, systolic blood pressure, and diastolic blood pressure), controlled for age and sex. The association of the obesity indices with disease variables was determined using logistic regression that included age and sex as covariates. All continuous variables were standardized to have mean=0 and SD=1, and odds ratios with 95% confidence intervals are reported.

All protocols were approved by the Alaska Area and the University of Alaska Fairbanks Institutional Review Boards, and the Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation Human Studies Committee. Participants provided written informed consent.

References for Supplementary Methods:

1. Grundy SM, Cleeman JI, Daniels SR, Donato KA, Eckel RH, et al. (2005) Diagnosis and management of the metabolic syndrome: an American Heart Association/National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute scientific statement: Executive Summary. Crit Pathw Cardiol 4: 198-203.

2. Lindsay RS, Funahashi T, Hanson RL, Matsuzawa Y, Tanaka S, et al. (2002) Adiponectin and development of type 2 diabetes in the Pima Indian population. Lancet 360: 57-58. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)09335-2

3. Swarbrick MM, Havel PJ (2008) Physiological, pharmacological, and nutritional regulation of circulating adiponectin concentrations in humans. Metab Syndr Relat Disord 6: 87-102. doi:10.1089/met.2007.0029

4. Yokota T, Oritani K, Takahashi I, Ishikawa J, Matsuyama A, et al. (2000) Adiponectin, a new member of the family of soluble defense collagens, negativelyregulates the growth of myelomonocytic progenitors and the functions of macrophages. Blood 96: 1723-32.

5. Ukkola O, Santaniemi M (2002) Adiponectin: a link between excess adiposity and associated comorbidities? J. Mol. Med 80: 696-702. doi:10.1007/s00109-002-0378-7

6. Goropashnaya AV, Herron J, Sexton M, Havel PJ, Stanhope KL, et al. (2009) Relationships between plasma adiponectin and body fat distribution, insulin sensitivity, and plasma lipoproteins in Alaskan Yup'ik Eskimos: the Center for Alaska Native Health Research study. Metab. Clin. Exp 58: 22-29. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2008.09.002

7. Boyer BB, Mohatt GV, Plaetke R, Herron J, Stanhope KL, et al. (2007) Metabolic syndrome in Yup'ik Eskimos: the Center for Alaska Native Health Research (CANHR) Study. Obesity (Silver Spring) 15: 2535-2540. doi:10.1038/oby.2007.302

8. Coward WA (1988) Stable isotopic methods for measuring energy expenditure. The doubly-labelled-water (${}^{2}H_{2}$, ${}^{18}O$) method: principles and practice. Proc Nutr Soc 47: 209-218.

9. Bland JM, Altman DG (1995) Comparing methods of measurement: why plotting difference against standard method is misleading. Lancet 346: 1085-1087.

3 Accuracy of the Combined Movement / Heart Rate Monitor Actiheart for Measuring Free-Living Energy Expenditure in Yup'ik People²

Abstract

Objective: To assess the accuracy of physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) estimates derived from a combined heart rate (HR) and accelerometer monitor to PAEE estimates from doubly-labeled water (DLW) in free-living Yup'ik people.

Design: 30 Yup'ik participants from one community in southwestern Alaska were dosed with DLW. Participants wore the Actiheart monitor for 10 continuous days of free-living, and HR and movement data were collected. PAEE was estimated using the DLW method, calculated by the Actiheart CNT software, and estimated from movement data (accelerometer counts per day). Thirteen PAEE estimates (12 directly from the Actiheart software and one estimated from movement data) were compared with DLW PAEE values using Bland-Altman plots and Spearman correlation coefficients adjusted for age, sex, and fat free mass.

Results: The best correlate of DLW PAEE from the Actiheart was the sum of accelerometer counts per day (r=0.50 (95% Cl = 0.13, 0.74)). None of the software PAEE models investigated were significantly correlated with DLW PAEE

² Bray M, Pomeroy J, Knowler WC, Brage S, Hopkins S, Boyer BB, et al. Accuracy of the Combined Movement / Heart Rate Monitor Actiheart for Measuring Free-Living Energy Expenditure in Yup'ik People. In preparation for Journal of Applied Physiology.

(ranging from r=0.02 (95% CI (-0.38, 0.41) to r=0.22 (-0.20, 0.56)). Limits of agreement (mean difference ± 1.96SD) for all software models were large, ranging from --4540 to 1600 kcal/day.

Conclusion: The Actiheart software does not accurately estimate free-living PAEE in Yup'ik people. However, total movement per day correlates with DLW PAEE and can be used as a proxy for PAEE.

Introduction

Obesity is a major risk factor for many chronic diseases (1). Adequate physical activity significantly contributes to maintenance of a healthy body composition and is positively associated with overall health. As the incidence of obesity and associated conditions rises, it is increasingly important to understand how energy expenditure, and especially physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE), is associated with obesity and other diseases. Moreover, valid, reliable, objective measures of free-living PAEE will facilitate the evaluation of lifestyle interventions on the relationship between PAEE and health.

The doubly labeled water (DLW) method has been extensively validated by comparing values with respiratory gas exchange for measuring total energy expenditure (TEE) (2-4) and serves as the criterion standard for estimating TEE in a free-living environment (5-6). Despite a handful of assumptions associated with the DLW method which may affect the accuracy of the estimates (2,7), in humans the correlation with TEE values from a metabolic chamber is r=0.97 (p<0.0001) and a mean difference (SD) of -65 (±183) kcal/day -accuracy of the method (2). When coupled with an estimate of resting energy expenditure (REE), DLW results can be used to estimate PAEE. However, the DLW method can be cost prohibitive for large-scale epidemiology studies. Attempts to measure PAEE using cost effective means in epidemiological studies have included the use of heart rate (HR) monitoring and accelerometry (ACC). The accuracy of both methods to estimate energy expenditure has been tested in laboratory and free-living settings (8-10). These methods are less expensive than others, yet each has limitations.

The HR method uses a physiological measure to determine PAEE assuming a linear relationship between HR and energy expenditure (EE). The slope and intercept of this linear relationship differ between individuals and depend on factors such as age, sex, fitness level, ambient temperature, stress, dehydration, and use of drugs that affect HR (11-13). Methods are available to adjust for some of these factors and involve determining the relationship between HR and EE for the individual (individual calibration) (14). Estimating EE from heart rate is limited by the fact that at low levels of activity, changes in PAEE are not reflected by changes in HR (Figure 3-1).

51

The ACC method uses the gravitational acceleration associated with body movement to estimate PAEE. Accelerometers used for assessing physical activity in humans typically measure the acceleration in one or more directions. Acceleration of the trunk in one direction, usually vertical, has typically been measured. Accelerations are measured by the device at sampling frequencies ranging from 10-100 Hz. In most devices, these raw accelerations are filtered to disregard vibration and other non-physiologically meaningful movement using proprietary algorithms stored in the device's firmware. The filtered data are then averaged over a period of time (usually 10-60 seconds) and then stored in the device's memory as a count. Because the filtering process is proprietary, a count from one model of accelerometer may not be equivalent to a count from another model. Usually an increase in counts corresponds with an increase in PAEE, but the slope and intercept will vary by device as well as activity. It is important to note that there are a number of activities that increase energy expenditure without a significant increase in vertical acceleration (and thus counts). Stationary bicycling is one example. Additionally, as running approaches maximum speeds, increases in speed are the result of increases in stride length instead of increases in vertical acceleration. As a result, as running approaches maximum speed accelerometry counts tend to plateau although energy expenditure increases (15-16). These are important considerations for measurement of PAEE, as the relationship between accelerometry and PAEE

depends on count measurement. Combined ACC and HR monitoring takes advantage of the unique strengths of both the ACC and HR methods, thus negating some of the disadvantages of each method when used alone. Combining the ACC and HR methods increases the accuracy of energy expenditure and PAEE estimates compared to DLW, in the laboratory (17-21). Very few studies however (22-24), have investigated how the Actiheart monitor performs for estimating energy expenditure in free-living environments over several days. Most of the work regarding validation of this monitor and the models used for its analysis has been done for a short duration, less than one day (25-26), or in laboratory settings (20,25,27-28).

The main goal of this study was to determine the accuracy of the combined ACC and HR monitor (Actiheart) for measuring PAEE in free-living Yup'ik people by comparing PAEE estimates from the monitor with PAEE derived from DLW measurements in this study population.

Methods

Participants

To assess the accuracy of the Actiheart monitor (CamNtech Ltd, Cambridge UK), a combined accelerometer/heart rate (HR) monitor, for measuring free-

living energy expenditure (EE) in Yup'ik people, we compared PAEE estimates derived from simultaneous wear of the monitor with PAEE estimates from doubly labeled water (DLW). Thirty-two participants, 18-40 years old, living in one rural community in southwestern Alaska wore the monitor for 10 continuous days. Participants in this analysis included men and non-pregnant women (by self-report). Two participants were excluded from the analysis because they did not complete the study. Anthropometric measurements were taken as described previously in Chapter 2.

The study protocol was approved by the University of Alaska Fairbanks institutional review boards, the Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation Human Studies Committee, and participants provided written informed consent.

Energy Expenditure – Doubly Labeled Water

TEE was determined from the Coward method (29) as described previously in Chapter 2. Fat free mass (FFM) was determined assuming a hydration constant of 0.73 and using the formula FFM = total body water/0.73, and fat mass and percent body fat were calculated from FFM and total body water.

Resting and Physical Activity Energy Expenditure

Gas exchange was measured for 15 minutes with a breath-by-breath gas exchange measurement system (Cosmed K4B²) while participants were lying quietly in light clothing at room temperature. These data were used to determine resting energy expenditure (REE). The first 4 minutes of data from each test were excluded; then the median of the remaining values for $\dot{V}O_2$ and $\dot{V}CO_2$ was calculated. $\dot{V}O_2$ and $\dot{V}CO_2$ were used to calculate REE using the Weir equation: REE (kcal/day)= [3.9 ($\dot{V}O_2$ (mL/min)) + 1.1 ($\dot{V}CO_2$ (mL/min))] 1.44 (30). Dietary induced thermogenesis (DIT) was assumed to be 10% of TEE. Physical activity energy expenditure was determined as PAEE = TEE – REE – DIT.

Energy Expenditure - The combined ACC and HR monitor

Participants were asked to wear the monitor at all times for 10 days of freeliving activity, except during steam baths because the extreme heat melts the adhesive on the electrode. Heart rate and ACC data were recorded at 30 second epochs. The Actiheart assessment coincided with the period of DLW energy expenditure assessment.

Actiheart data were downloaded and processed using CamNtech software (version 4.0.87). This software includes a HR data cleaning algorithm and branched equation models which use both HR and ACC to estimate PAEE, as well as models which used ACC or HR alone for estimating PAEE. The EE estimates from the branched models have been validated against indirect calorimetry and DLW estimated EE in other study populations (11, 22). The branch models incorporate both HR and ACC to estimate energy expenditure. There are several options for analyzing the data, some which provide estimates directly using the software, while others involve downloading the data for analysis outside of the monitor software. The software also offers additional output options, including output style and options for imputing missing data. In the current analysis, estimates taken from the summary output obtained in the "Daily EE" tab in the monitor software were used. Specifically, comparisons were made when one summary row for each participant was calculated (summary output). The one summary row output ignores data from incomplete 24-hr days, typically the first and last day of wear. An additional output option exports one summary row for each day that the participant wore the monitor, providing daily estimates from which day-to-day variability could be detected; this option was not used in this analysis because after inspection of the wear time patterns, wear time and activity patterns were considerably uniform in this sample, and the criterion for comparison in this study was DLW TEE from which an overall estimate, not a daily estimate, is determined.

When there are recording gaps in the data where the device failed to pick up the electrical signal generated from the heart, the signal was very noisy (a HR value that is biologically implausible), or the participant did not wear the monitor, the software uses a cleaning algorithm to fill in missing HR data using inter beat intervals and HR data from the 4 minutes proceeding the missing values. Straight line interpolation is used if a reasonable HR cannot be determined and the missing time is less than 5 minutes. When the missing heart
rates occur for greater than 5 minutes, the time is scored as "Not Worn" and HR is left as zero. Where there are gaps of missing data greater than 5 minutes, it is optional to fill this time with the average PAEE for the day ("autofill" option), or to leave these data as missing ("no autofill" option). If the data are left as missing, the missing points are set to REE which means that the points are set to zero if activity energy expenditure is output. In this analysis, both the "autofill" and "no autofill" options were evaluated for each model and compared with DLW values.

The branched equation models used included two individually calibrated models ("Step" in Table 3-1) and two group calibrated models ("Group" in Table 3-1) (11). In one individually calibrated model and one group calibrated model the "stress" option was employed. In the "stress" option the ACC and HR contributions are altered so that ACC is used at a ratio of 9:1 with HR in determining EE when HR is elevated in the absence of sufficient activity (<25 counts/min). In the models that do not include "stress", when HR is elevated and activity counts are <25 counts/min, the ACC and HR ratio is 1:1 (31). When using HR or ACC to estimate energy expenditure, the relationship between HR and VO₂ (hence energy expenditure) and ACC and VO₂ must be determined or estimated. For the individually calibrated models ("Step" in Table 3-1), the HR to PAEE relationship was established for each participant using an 8 minute graded step exercise (14). When the group calibrated models ("Group" in Table 3-1)

models were used, the HR to VO_2 relationship was estimated using previously determined regression parameter estimates (20). For the models which included ACC (all models other than the HR Only models), the ACC to VO_2 relationship was derived from level walking and running in a separate population (14). The HR Only method used the flex HR method (20), in which PAEE is determined from the linear relationship between HR and energy expenditure above the flex HR. The flex HR is defined as the average of the lowest heart rate during light exercise and the highest heart rate during rest (32). Below the flex HR energy expenditure is assumed to be equal to REE.

Calibration

Prior to the calibration tests, each participant was fitted with two monitors. After light preparation of the skin with rubbing alcohol followed by light drying with a paper towel, 4 EKG electrode patches (Red Dot 2570, 3M) were applied to the chest and the monitors attached. A monitor was placed with the larger part positioned just below the apex of the sternum with the lateral lead placed horizontally (lower location). Another monitor was positioned with the larger part at the level of the third intercostal space with the lateral electrode placed horizontally on the major pectoral muscle without being under the armpit (upper location) (Figure 3-2). The outputs of each monitor were visually inspected after the step exercise, and the one with the subjectively cleaner HR tracings (i.e. less noise) was used for analysis. The monitor placement was then chosen based on the strength of the heart rate signal from the EKG for subsequent use by that individual.

For the step exercise, participants were instructed to step up and down on an 8 inch (200 mm) step paced by an audible signal, and the monitor was set up to record EKG (128Hz) and acceleration (32Hz) waveform data during the exercise. The rate of stepping increased linearly from 15 step cycles/min to 33 step cycles/min over the 8 minute period. During the step test participants wore a HR monitor which provided real time HR display. The exercise was ended early if the participant reached 90% of the estimated maximum heart rate (maximum heart rate was estimated at 220 beats/min - age in years) or if he or she was unable or unwilling to complete the exercise. If a participant stopped the exercise prior to 8 minutes, the HR to $\dot{V}O_2$ relationship was determined from the data that were successfully collected during the step exercise. After stepping was completed, the participant was asked to sit quietly without talking for 2 minutes.

The combined ACC and HR monitor for free-living conditions

Upon completion of the individual calibration from the step exercise, the monitor was programmed for long-term wear and set to record data in 30 second intervals. Participants were asked to wear it at all times for 10 full days, including during sleep. They were instructed to remove the unit only during steam baths. Participants developing rashes or skin irritation were treated with a hydrocortisone ointment and the monitor was repositioned in an alternate location (just above or below the original location). Monitors were downloaded every other day throughout the study period to ensure recording integrity and to encourage compliance, at which time urine samples were collected. An activity diary was provided, and participants were asked to record information about daily activities and the time and reason for any removal of the monitor.

Statistical analyses

SAS for Windows (version 9.3) was used for statistical analyses. Since age, sex and body size are associated with energy expenditure Spearman's correlation coefficient partialled for age and sex was used to determine which body size measurement was most strongly associated with PAEE. Spearman's correlation coefficient was then used to compare the correlation of PAEE estimates from the monitor with PAEE estimates from DLW. To compare individual PAEE estimates that are not explained by age, sex, or body size, these correlations were adjusted for age, sex, and the strongest body size correlate with PAEE. PAEE was not divided by body size (i.e. body weight) as this is an inappropriate method for adjusting for body size (33-35). The Bland-Altman (36) method was used to assess absolute agreement in DLW and the other estimates

60

of PAEE. The limits of agreement from the Bland Altman method are calculated as 1.96 times the standard deviation for the difference between the PAEE from the other method for comparison and the DLW PAEE.

In addition to the 12 PAEE estimates determined by the models from the Actiheart software, we also determined the correlation of total counts per day with DLW PAEE. A strong association was seen between total counts per day and DLW PAEE, so multiple regression was used to model DLW PAEE from ACC counts per day (PAEE CPD model). Age, sex, and body weight were also included in the model to be consistent with the Actiheart software models which all included age, sex, and body weight. The PAEE CPD model was determined because in a given person higher CPD leads to higher PAEE, indicating that CPD can serve as a proxy for PAEE. In total, 13 models to estimate PAEE were compared with DLW PAEE estimates. These included the "autofill" and "no autofill" options for four branched equation models from the monitor software, ACC Only, HR Only, and the model we determined from multiple regression.

Results

Characteristics of the participants completing the study (n=30; 16 men and 14 women) are shown in Table 3-2. The ages ranged from 18-40 years with the median age for men being 25.7 and for women 36.3 years. Summary statistics

for PAEE estimates from DLW and PAEE estimates from all the models analyzed for women and men respectively are presented in Table 3-3. PAEE for men and women significantly differed from one another.

Correlation of Energy Expenditure with Body Size

The correlations between energy expenditure estimates and body size variables are shown in Table 3-4. The strongest correlation was between TEE and FFM (r=0.68, p<0.01). REE was more strongly correlated with all other body size estimates than were TEE or PAEE. The strongest correlate with PAEE was DLW FFM (r=0.35, p=0.06). Since FFM was the strongest correlate with PAEE, it is the most appropriate measurement to adjust correlations to remove the effect of body size on PAEE. Researchers are usually able to determine only body weight however, whereas FFM may not always be measurable. Therefore, we also determined the correlations between PAEE estimates after adjustment for body weight.

PAEE Model Comparisons with DLW PAEE

The correlation (95% CI) of each model with DLW, as well as the mean difference and 95% limits of agreement between DLW and each model are listed in Table 3-5. The strongest correlation, and the only significant correlation, was found between total counts per day and DLW PAEE (r=0.50; 95% CI (0.13, 0.74)). Of all the PAEE models investigated, the PAEE CPD model had the smallest limits of agreement with DLW (-458, 953kcal/day) (Table 3-5), and did not have a significant correlation between the mean difference between estimates and the average PAEE in the Bland Altman plots.

After adjustment for FFM, all PAEE estimates from the software models evaluated were positively correlated with DLW PAEE values, ranging from the strongest correlation of r=0.22 (95% CI (-0.20, 0.56)) for the Step Stress model, to the weakest correlation of r=0.02 (95% CI (-0.38, 0.41) for Step AF model, however none of the Actiheart model PAEE estimate correlations with DLW PAEE were significant (Table 3-5). When adjusted for body weight instead of FFM, correlations of the software model PAEE estimates with DLW PAEE were slightly stronger, but none significant (Table 3-5).

The Actiheart models which performed the best overall in terms of correlation with DLW PAEE, limits of agreement with DLW, and which had no PAEE related bias were the models which included both the exercise calibration and the "stress" factor (Step Stress and Step Stress AF models) (Table 3-5). The non-exercise calibrated Actiheart model which performed best overall in terms of limits of agreement with DLW and which had no PAEE related bias was the Group Stress AF model (Table 3-5). The model with the smallest limits of agreement, as evidenced from the Bland Altman plots, was the Step Stress model which included the exercise calibration and the "stress" factor (limits of agreement, i.e., step stress model – DLW PAEE, =, -795, 1163kcal/day). This was followed closely by the ACC Only AF model (limits of agreement = -450, 1596 kcal/day). The largest limits of agreement came when the HR Only AF model was used (limits of agreement = -4540, 1309 kcal/day). If we compare only the branched equation models which included both HR and ACC to estimate PAEE, the Group AF model, which did not include an exercise calibration or the "stress" factor, had the largest limits of agreement (-2188, 1182kcal/day).

Autofill Option

When comparing the differences between using and not using the "autofill" option, the results were mixed in terms of correlations with DLW (Table 3-5). Specifically, the Group, Step, and Step Stress models performed better when the "autofill" option was not used, while the ACC Only, HR Only, and Group Stress models performed better when the "autofill" option was used.

Exercise vs. Non-Exercise Calibration

Exercise calibration improved PAEE estimates over non-exercise calibration when the "stress" factor was used (Table 3-5). Specifically, in the models which included the "stress" factor, the correlation with DLW PAEE was stronger and the 95% limits of agreement were narrower when exercise calibration was used (Step Stress) compared to when non-exercise calibration was used (Group Stress). In the models which did not include the "stress" factor (Step and Group), correlations with DLW PAEE were stronger with the non-exercise models (Group) than with the exercise calibrated models (Step), but the limits of agreement were smaller for the exercise calibrated models (Step) than for the non-exercise calibrated models (Group). In addition, the Group models exhibited a significant correlation between the mean difference between estimates and the absolute magnitude of PAEE in the Bland Altman plots while the Step, Step Stress, and Group Stress models did not.

Combined HR and ACC vs. HR Only or ACC Only

One of the assumptions of using HR and ACC combined to estimate PAEE is that a more accurate estimate will be obtained than when PAEE estimates are made using ACC or HR alone. ACC alone performed poorly in terms of correlations with DLW (ACC Only r= 0.04; ACC Only AF r= 0.03), but the limits of agreements with DLW estimates for ACC alone were similar to the combined ACC and HR models (Table 3-5). When HR alone was used, correlations with DLW PAEE estimates were also low (HR Only r= 0.05; HR Only AF r= 0.04), and the limits of agreement were larger than all other models investigated (Table 3-5). In addition, both the ACC Only and HR Only models exhibited a significant correlation between the mean difference between estimates and the absolute magnitude of PAEE in the Bland Altman plots (Table 3-5 and Figures 3-3c & 3-3d respectively). ACC Only underestimates PAEE at low PAEE values and over estimates PAEE at high PAEE values while HR Only overestimated PAEE at low PAEE values and underestimated PAEE at high PAEE values.

In addition to the ACC Only and HR Only models, the Group (non-exercise calibrated) model also exhibited a significant correlation between the mean difference and absolute magnitude of PAEE in the Bland Altman plot (r=-0.44 p=0.008 and p=0.009 for the Group AF and Group models respectively). The remaining 7 models had no significant difference in the Bland Altman plots (Table 3-5).

Discussion

The Actiheart monitor combines heart rate and movement registration to measure PAEE, yet little is known regarding its validity for measuring PAEE over a several day period in free-living participants (20,23,27). We determined the accuracy of equations using data from the Actiheart monitor for measuring PAEE in a free-living environment in Yup'ik people. We also determined the most accurate model for estimating PAEE in this study population. Compared with DLW PAEE estimates, the software models do not accurately estimate free-living PAEE in Yup'ik people. Correlations with DLW PAEE were poor for all software models and limits of agreement were wide. In fact none of the PAEE estimates using the software models were significantly correlated with DLW PAEE. In contrast, the strongest and the only significant correlation with DLW PAEE was with total counts per day (r=0.50, 95%CI (0.13, 0.74)). On an individual level, higher CPD leads to higher PAEE, explaining why total CPD is strongly correlated with DLW PAEE. Therefore, total counts per day could be used as a proxy for PAEE.

When evaluating the agreement of the models compared with DLW for estimating PAEE, it is important to consider the correlation with DLW as well as the mean difference and the limits of agreement as seen in Bland Altman plots. A model with a small mean difference from DLW, but large limits of agreement may not be as useful as a model with a larger mean difference but small limits of agreement from the DLW estimates. A systematic mean difference can easily be adjusted for by simple arithmetic, but large limits of agreement cannot be adjusted. Mean differences from DLW PAEE were as low as 43 kcal/day. However, the limits of agreement were large, ranging from (-747, 1164 kcal/day) to (-4441, 1363 kcal/day) kcal/day. These large limits of agreement make it difficult to have confidence in the PAEE estimates.

When determining the accuracy of a model for estimating PAEE, it is also important to evaluate whether the model exhibits a PAEE related bias (a significant correlation between the mean difference and absolute magnitude of PAEE in the Bland Altman plot). In this study population the PAEE CPD Model, as well as the Step Stress, Group Stress, and Step software models were not biased, while the Group, ACC Only, and HR Only models were biased. Models that exhibit a PAEE related bias, such as the Group, ACC Only, and HR Only models, systematically over or under-estimate PAEE depending on the PAEE value. For example, the HR Only model over-estimated PAEE at low PAEE values and underestimated at high PAEE values, whereas the ACC Only model under-estimated PAEE at low PAEE values and over-estimated at high PAEE values.

Individual calibration of the monitor should yield more accurate PAEE estimates than using a group calibration since the physical activity intensity (PAI) to HR relationship is determined for each person (14). This was true when the Step Stress and Group Stress models were used, however it was not entirely true for the Step and Group models. The Step model had narrower limits of agreement from DLW but the Group model was more strongly correlated with DLW. It is possible that individual calibration to estimate the PAI to HR slope using a submaximal test such as the step exercise is too far away from the maximum workload. Therefore, the PAI to HR slope estimated may not align with true maximum PAI to HR values and PAEE estimates would be biased. Moreover, when there is noisy HR data, the HR is most often biased high. Since the "stress" models make an adjustment to the weighting of the HR and ACC contribution in the calculation of PAEE when there is a high HR in the absence of sufficient ACC counts, the "stress" adjustment may act as an additional cleaning mechanism that the non-"stress" models do not employ, leading to improved PAEE estimates.

One of the proposed benefits of using the Actiheart is that both ACC and HR can be combined in an effort to improve PAEE estimates. The combined methods did perform better than the HR only and ACC only methods, but they were not significantly correlated with DLW PAEE, and are not reliable for estimating PAEE. The HR only method greatly overestimated PAEE, had wide limits of agreement (-4441, 1363 kcal/day) and had a significant negative PAEE related bias in the Bland Altman plots; at low mean PAEE values the HR only method over-estimated PAEE and at high mean PAEE values it under-estimated PAEE. The ACC only method was weakly correlated with DLW PAEE estimates and exhibited a positive PAEE related bias in the Bland Altman plots; at low mean PAEE values the ACC only method under-estimated PAEE and at high mean PAEE values the ACC only method under-estimated PAEE and at high mean PAEE values the ACC only method under-estimated PAEE and at high mean PAEE values it over-estimated PAEE. When using ACC or HR only methods, the PAEE related bias make PAEE estimates unreliable.

Adjusting PAEE for Body Weight Compared to Dividing PAEE by Body Weight

Body size significantly contributes to energy expenditure (Table 3-4). For example, heavier people perform more work (increased energy expenditure) to move their additional mass. Adjusting for body size should provide a more accuracy assessment of the association between PAEE from the models compared to DLW that is not due to body size. The adjustment approach taken by many investigators is to use the ratio of energy expenditure to body size, or specifically to divide energy expenditure by body weight. The ratio approach however is flawed, and is not an acceptable method to adjust for body size as others have shown (33-35,37-40). In order to accurately compare PAEE estimates independently of body size, the residuals from predicting PAEE from body size should be determined and the correlation between these residuals then calculated.

By adjusting PAEE for body size (specifically FFM) in the correlation analyses, we conclude that the Actiheart software does not accurately estimate PAEE as compared with DLW. Our results differed from those of Assah et al. who evaluated the accuracy of the Actiheart software for estimating PAEE as compared with DLW in a Cameroon cohort, but used the ratio method to adjust for body size (23). The difference in the results is likely due to the different analytic approaches used in each study.

Output option: Autofill

When the "autofill" option was used to fill gaps in the data with the average energy expenditure for that day, the results were similar to when these gaps

70

were left as missing. In our study population, there was very little non-wear time (3%) and non-wear time primarily occurred during sleeping hours. The results would likely be different if there was more non-wear time, especially if the non-wear time was during activities that were considerably different from the activities during wear time. If the non-wear time occurred during periods of heavy activity such as exercise, filling the missing periods with the average energy expenditure for the day would underestimate PAEE. In contrast, if the non-wear time occurred during periods of sleep or low activity, filling these periods with the average energy expenditure for the day would over-estimate PAEE. For these reasons it is important to consider the monitor wear patterns of the population of interest to determine which output options are most appropriate.

Study Strengths and Limitations

Strengths of this study included the length of time which energy expenditure was monitored (10 days) simultaneously from DLW and the Actiheart, and excellent participant compliance. We acknowledge that this study was conducted in one community and in one cultural group, and that results may differ in other groups.

Conclusions

Valid methods for monitoring the subcomponents of physical activity are important to understand the role that physical activity (or inactivity) plays in health because it provides an opportunity to tease apart which aspects of physical activity are most influential to health. By combining the ACC and HR methods to estimate PAEE, more accurate measurement of PAEE should be possible. However, the combined ACC and HR method did not provide accurate PAEE estimates as compared with DLW. Total counts per day may provide the most reliable estimate of PAEE. Further investigation into different methods for processing and using the ACC and HR information are necessary to improve the accuracy of PAEE estimates.

The combined ACC and HR Actiheart monitor does make it possible to estimate the subcomponents of physical activity including frequency, intensity, and duration of activity. However, similar estimates of these subcomponents can also be estimated using any accelerometer capable of recording timestamped data.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by Award Number R01DK074842 and P20RR016430 (Boyer). This work was also supported by the Intramural Research Program of the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (Pomeroy and Knowler)and to the University of Alaska President's Professors Fund for travel (Knowler). The Presidents' Professors Fund is supported by unrestricted donations from British Petroleum and Conoco-Phillips. We thank the community field research assistants and the computer/data management and administrative staff members: Michelle Dondanville, Jynene Black, Johanna Herron, and Salena Bias. Søren Brage and Antony Wright (MRC Epidemiology Unit, Cambridge) provided expert advice on the processing of the DLW data. We are also grateful to the members and leaders of Yup'ik communities of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta region in Southwest Alaska for their cooperation and participation in our study. Quyana!

References

1. WHO | Obesity and overweight [Internet]. WHO. [cited 2012 Sep 27]. Available from:

http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs311/en/index.html

2. Ravussin E, Harper IT, Rising R, Bogardus C. Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in lean and obese subjects. Am J Physiol. 1991;261(3 Pt 1):E402-9.

3. Black AE, Coward WA, Cole TJ, Prentice AM. Human energy expenditure in affluent societies: an analysis of 574 doubly-labelled water measurements. Eur J Clin Nutr. 1996;50(2):72–92.

4. Schoeller DA, Ravussin E, Schutz Y, Acheson KJ, Baertschi P, Jéquier E. Energy expenditure by doubly labeled water: validation in humans and proposed calculation. Am. J. Physiol. 1986;250(5 Pt 2):R823–830.

5. Ainslie P, Reilly T, Westerterp K. Estimating human energy expenditure: a review of techniques with particular reference to doubly labelled water. Sports Med. 2003;33(9):683–98.

6. Schoeller DA. Measurement of energy expenditure in free-living humans by using doubly labeled water. J. Nutr. 1988;118(11):1278–89.

7. Butler PJ, Green JA, Boyd IL, Speakman JR. Measuring metabolic rate in the field: the pros and cons of the doubly labeled water and heart rate methods. Ecology. 2004;18(2):168-183.

8. Patrik Johansson H, Rossander-Hulthén L, Slinde F, Ekblom B. Accelerometry combined with heart rate telemetry in the assessment of total energy expenditure. Br. J. Nutr. 2006;95(3):631–9.

9. Colbert LH, Matthews CE, Havighurst TC, Kim K, Schoeller DA. Comparative validity of physical activity measures in older adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(5):867–76.

10. Rothney MP, Brychta RJ, Meade NN, Chen KY, Buchowski MS. Validation of the ActiGraph two-regression model for predicting energy expenditure. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2010;42(9):1785–92.

11. Brage S, Brage N, Franks PW, Ekelund U, Wong M-Y, Andersen LB, et al. Branched equation modeling of simultaneous accelerometry and heart rate monitoring improves estimate of directly measured physical activity energy expenditure. J. Appl. Physiol. 2004;96(1):343–51.

12. Achten J, Jeukendrup AE. Heart rate monitoring: applications and limitations. Sports Med. 2003;33(7):517–38.

13. Dugas LR, Van der Merwe L, Odendaal H, Noakes TD, Lambert EV. A novel energy expenditure prediction equation for intermittent physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2005;37(12):2154–61.

14. Brage S, Ekelund U, Brage N, Hennings MA, Froberg K, Franks PW, et al. Hierarchy of individual calibration levels for heart rate and accelerometry to measure physical activity. J. Appl. Physiol. 2007;103(2):682–92.

15. Fudge BW, Wilson J, Easton C, Irwin L, Clark J, Haddow O, et al. Estimation of oxygen uptake during fast running using accelerometry and heart rate. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(1):192–8.

16. Rowlands AV, Stone MR, Eston RG. Influence of speed and step frequency during walking and running on motion sensor output. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2007;39(4):716–27.

17. Haskell WL, Yee MC, Evans A, Irby PJ. Simultaneous measurement of heart rate and body motion to quantitate physical activity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1993;25(1):109–15.

18. Luke A, Maki KC, Barkey N, Cooper R, McGee D. Simultaneous monitoring of heart rate and motion to assess energy expenditure. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 1997;29(1):144–8.

19. Strath SJ, Bassett DR Jr, Thompson DL, Swartz AM. Validity of the simultaneous heart rate-motion sensor technique for measuring energy expenditure. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2002;34(5):888–94.

20. Brage S, Brage N, Franks PW, Ekelund U, Wareham NJ. Reliability and validity of the combined heart rate and movement sensor Actiheart. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2005 Apr;59(4):561–70.

21. Rennie K, Rowsell T, Jebb SA, Holburn D, Wareham NJ. A combined heart rate and movement sensor: proof of concept and preliminary testing study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2000;54(5):409–14.

22. Butte NF, Wong WW, Adolph AL, Puyau MR, Vohra FA, Zakeri IF. Validation of cross-sectional time series and multivariate adaptive regression splines models for the prediction of energy expenditure in children and adolescents using doubly labeled water. J. Nutr. 2010;140(8):1516–23.

23. Assah FK, Ekelund U, Brage S, Wright A, Mbanya JC, Wareham NJ. Accuracy and validity of a combined heart rate and motion sensor for the measurement of free-living physical activity energy expenditure in adults in Cameroon. Int J Epidemiol. 2011;40(1):112–20.

24. Campbell N, Prapavessis H, Gray C, McGowan E, Rush E, Maddison R. The Actiheart in Adolescents: A Doubly Labelled Water Validation. Pediatr Exerc Sci. 2012;24(4):589-602.

25. Takken T, Stephens S, Balemans A, Tremblay MS, Esliger DW, Schneiderman J, et al. Validation of the Actiheart activity monitor for measurement of activity energy expenditure in children and adolescents with chronic disease. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2010;64(12):1494–500.

26. Adolph AL, Puyau MR, Vohra FA, Nicklas TA, Zakeri IF, Butte NF. Validation of uniaxial and triaxial accelerometers for the assessment of physical activity in preschool children. J Phys Act Health. 2012;9(7):944–53.

27. Crouter SE, Churilla JR, Bassett DR. Accuracy of the Actiheart for the assessment of energy expenditure in adults. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2008;62(6):704

28. Corder K, Brage S, Wareham NJ, Ekelund U. Comparison of PAEE from combined and separate heart rate and movement models in children. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2005;37(10):1761–7.

29. Coward WA. Stable isotopic methods for measuring energy expenditure. The doubly-labelled-water (${}^{2}H_{2}$,18O) method: principles and practice. Proc Nutr Soc. 1988;47(3):209–18.

30. Weir JB de V. New methods for calculating metabolic rate with special reference to protein metabolism. J Physiol. 1949;109(1-2):1–9.

31. The Actiheart User Manual 4.0. CamNtech Ltd; 2008.

32. Ceesay SM, Prentice AM, Day KC, Murgatroyd PR, Goldberg GR, Scott W, et al. The use of heart rate monitoring in the estimation of energy expenditure: a

validation study using indirect whole-body calorimetry. British Journal of Nutrition. 1989;61(02):175–86.

33. Allison DB, Paultre F, Goran MI, Poehlman ET, Heymsfield SB. Statistical considerations regarding the use of ratios to adjust data. Int. J. Obes. Relat. Metab. Disord. 1995;19(9):644–52.

34. Tanner JM. Fallacy of per-weight and per-surface area standards, and their relation to spurious correlation. J Appl Physiol. 1949;2(1):1–15.

35. Toth MJ, Goran MI, Ades PA, Howard DB, Poehlman ET. Examination of data normalization procedures for expressing peak VO2 data. J. Appl. Physiol. 1993;75(5):2288–92.

36. Bland JM, Altman DG. Comparing methods of measurement: why plotting difference against standard method is misleading. Lancet. 1995;346(8982):1085–7.

37. Katch, V. Correlations v ratio adjustments of body wieght in exerciseexygen studies. Ergonomics. 1972;15(6):671-680.

38. Katch, V. Use of the oxygen/body weight ratio in correlational analyses: spurious correlations and statistical considerations. Med. Sci. Sports. 1973;5(4):253-257.

39. Sokal RR, Rohlf FJ. Biometry. WH Freeman: New York, 1980, pp 17-19.

40. Pearson K. Mathematical contribution to the theory of evolution-on a form of spurious correlation which may arise when indices are used in the measurement of organs. Proc Roy Soc London. 1896; 60:489-497.

Model Name from Actiheart	Short Model Name	ACC	HR	Stress	Autofill	
ACC only – Autofill	ACC Only AF	Х				
ACC only	ACC Only	х			X	
HR Only – Autofill	HR Only AF		Step		X	
HR Only	HR Only		Step			
Group Cal Jap2007 Autofill	Group AF	Х	Group		x	
Group Cal Jap2007	Group	X	Group			
Adult: GroupAct/GroupHR+stress - Autofill	Group Stress AF	x	Group	X	x	
Adult: GroupAct/GroupHR+stress	Group Stress	X	Group	x		
Group Cal Jap2007/StepHR Autofill	Step AF	Х	Step		X	
Group Cal Jap2007/StepHR	Step	x	Step			
Adult: GroupAct/StepHR+stress Autofill	Step Stress AF	X	Step	x	x	
Adult: GroupAct/StepHR+stress	Step Stress	X	Step	X		

Table 3-1: Model Attributes

ACC = Accelerometry; Group HR = the HR to $\dot{V}O_2$ relationship is estimated using the in-built algorithm; Step HR = the individual step calibration was used to establish the HR to $\dot{V}O_2$ relationship for each participant; Stress Adjustment = the model adjusted for stress (when HR was elevated without sufficient ACC counts); Autofill = Gaps of greater than 5 minutes of missing time were filled with the average PAEE for the day; No Autofill = Gaps of greater than 5 minutes of missing time were left as missing values. In all models, we used the summary output (one line summarizing all days of wear for each participant) rather than the 1 line/day option (one line per day for each participant). The PAEE CPD Model was determined by modeling DLW PAEE from age, sex, body weight (kg) and total counts per day. All PAEE estimates derived from the Actiheart software also include age, sex, and body weight (kg).

				Lower		Upper	
	Variable		Min	Quartile	Median	Quartile	<u>Max</u>
Women (n=14)							
	Age	ye a rs	19	30.8	36.3	40.1	40.7
	BMI	kg/m²	17.1	22.0	29.8	34.1	41.1
	Height	m	1.46	1.54	1.62	1.64	1.72
	Weight	kg	44	61	72	91	110
	Waist/Hip Ratio		0.77	0.79	0.85	0.91	1.02
	WC	cm	64.4	74.8	96.0	105.5	117.3
	Pfat	%	12	31	37	44	46
Men							
(n =16)	Ace	vears	18 1	10 5	25.7	31 /	40.4
	BMI	kg/m ²	20.0	2 2.9	2 5.0	29.1	38.9
	Height	m	1.60	1.65	1.70	1.76	1.84
	Weight	kg	55	64	72	84	118
	Waist/Hip Ratio		0.82	0.85	0.87	0.91	1.13
	WC	cm	68.3	76.3	81.9	100.4	127.8
	Pfat	%	8	13	18	27	35

Table 3-2: Participant Characteristics

BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; pfat = percent body fat

				Lower		Upper	
	Variable		Min	Quartile	Median	Quartile	Max
Wome	Resting EE	kcal/day	595	1142	1221	1430	1513
(n=14)	DLW PAEE	kcal/day	24	516	1007	1146	1359
	Summary Models						
	ACC Only AF	kcal/day	392	595	913	1067	1467
	ACC Only	kcal/day	338	595	865	1067	1381
	HR Only AF	kcal/day	1205	1738	2345	2946	5614
	HR Only	kcal/day	1205	1535	2345	2744	5614
	Group AF	kcal/day	836	1188	1498	1850	3473
	Group	kcal/day	836	1188	1422	1725	3362
	Group Stress AF	kcal/d a y	605	701	886	1169	1988
	Group Stress	kcal/day	593	633	858	1146	1838
	Step AF	kcal/day	742	1171	1275	1813	2245
	Step	kcal/day	742	107 3	1237	1688	2211
	Step StressAF	kcal/day	523	744	898	1193	1595
	Step Stress	kcal/day	498	701	890	1193	1565
	PAEE CPD Model	kcal/day	476	620	855	1046	1251
Men	Resting EE	kcal/day	1115	1399	1523	1720	1950
(n=16)	DLW AEE	kcal/day	674	993	1416	1629	3204
	Summary Models						
	ACC Only AF	kcal/day	430	755	879	1081	1358
	ACC Only	kcal/day	430	755	879	1055	1319
	HR Only AF	kcal/day	893	2272	3407	4641	6241
	HR Only	kcal/day	893	2240	3391	4411	6241
	Group AF	kcal/day	667	1605	2069	2995	3526
	Group	kcal/day	667	1605	2059	2861	3526
	Group Stress AF	kcal/day	824	1478	1712	2139	2660
	Group Stress	kcal/day	824	1415	1712	2063	2660
	Step AF	kcal/day	759	1717	1948	2370	2611
	Step	kcal/day	759	1717	1938	2278	2611
	Step Stress AF	kcal/day	533	1428	1529	1749	2409
	Step Stress	kcal/day	533	1427	1529	1688	2336
	PAEE CPD Model	kcal/day	659	1129	1336	1546	2739
Resting E	E = resting energy exper	nditure; DLV	V PAEE =	doubly labeled	water phy	sical activity	,
energy ex	cpenditure; CPD = counts	per day					

Table 3-3: PAEE Statistics

	REE	TEE	PAEE
Height (m)	0.36 (0.06)	0.23 (0.23)	0.10 (0.62)
Weight (kg)	0.62 (<.01)	0.49 (0.01)	0.15 (0.42)
BMI (kg/m²)	0.56 (<.01)	0.41 (0.03)	0.09 (0.64)
WC (cm)	0.56 (<.01)	0.43 (0.02)	0.13 (0.51)
Fat mass _{DLW} (kg)	0.57 (<.01)	0.35 (0.07)	0.03 (0.90)
Fat-free mass _{DLW} (kg)	0.58 (<.01)	0.68 (<.01)	0.35 (0.06)
Fat mass _{BIA} (kg)	0.60 (<.01)	0.43 (0.02)	0.10 (0.61)
Fat-free mass BIA (kg)	0.66 (<.01)	0.55 (<.01)	0.17 (0.37)

Table 3-4: Correlations of Energy Expenditure with Body Size

REE = resting energy expenditure (from expired gas indirect calorimetry);

TEE = total energy expenditure (from DLW);

PAEE = physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE=TEE-REE-(0.1XTEE);

DLW = doubly labeled water.

Spearman correlation coefficients and p-values, adjusted for sex, are reported. Fat mass and fat-free mass were derived from DLW.

	* Spearman Corr (95% Cl) w/DI W	† Spearman Corr (95% Ci) w/Di W	Mean Diff from	25 th		75 th	Range of Diff from		p-value (BA
Model	Adjusted for FFM	Adjusted for weight	DLW (±1.96SD)	Centile	Median	Centile	DLW	BA Corr	Corr)
ACC Only AF	-0.04 (-0.43, 0.36)	0.07 (-0.32, 0.44)	573(-450, 1596)	261	468	774	2046	0.63	<0.0001
ACC Only	-0.03 (-0.42, 0.37)	0.07 (-0.32, 0.44)	590(-421, 1600)	289	490	803	2021	0.64	0.0001
HR Only AF	0.05 (-0.36, 0.43)	0.20 (-0.20, 0.54)	-1616(-4540, 1309)	-2812	-1384	-536	5849	-0.79	<0.0001
HR Only	0.04 (-0.36, 0.43)	0.19 (-0.21, 0.53)	-1539(-4441, 1363)	-2665	-1283	-488	5804	-0.79	<0.0001
Group AF	0.12 (-0.29, 0.49)	0.25 (-0.15, 0.57)	-503(-2188, 1182)	-1103	-428	158	3370	-0.44	0.008
Group	0.13 (-0.28, 0.50)	0.24 (-0.16, 0.56)	-456(-2119,1206)	-1095	-419	158	3325	-0.44	0.009
Group Stress AF	0.10 (-0.31, 0.47)	0.20 (-0.20, 0.54)	43(-1100,1185)	-372	-5	366	2285	-0.06	0.77
Group Stress	0.06 (-0.35, 0.44)	0.16 (-0.24, 0.50)	73(-1062, 1207)	-359	-5	506	2269	-0.05	0.79
Step AF	0.02 (-0.38, 0.41)	0.08 (-0.31, 0.45)	-191(-1476, 1094,)	-630	-236	111	2570	0.03	0.88
Step	0.11 (-0.30, 0.48)	0.17 (-0.23, 0.52)	-181(-1246, 884)	-543	-215	164	2130	0.02	0.92
Step Stress AF	0.19 (-0.22, 0.54)	0.27 (-0.13, 0.58)	184(-795, 1163)	-121	115	467	1957	0.19	0.30
Step Stress	0.22 (-0.20, 0.56)	0.30 (-0.10, 0.61)	209(-747, 1164)	-72	163	564	1911	0.20	0.29
PAEE CPD Model			0 (-680, 680)	-145	49	249	1359	0.15	0.44
Counts per day	0.50 (0.12, 0.74)	0.51 (0.13, 0.75)							

Table 3-5: Actiheart and DLW PAEE Comparison Statistics

BA= Bland Altman; FFM = fat free mass

* Correlations are adjusted for age, sex, and FFM.

[†] Correlations are adjusted for age, sex, and body weight. Units for Mean Diff from DLW (±1.96SD), 25th Centile, Median, 75th Centile, and Range of Diff from DLW are kcal/day. No correlation coefficient is given for PAEE CPD Model because this model was determined by regression CPD on DLW PAEE. Only the correlation coefficient is given for Counts per day (CPD) because CPD is not a direct estimate of PAEE.







Figure 3-2: Actiheart Positions - Upper and Lower



Figure 3-3: Bland Altman Plots

DLW = doubly labeled water; PAEE = physical activity energy expenditure; AH = Actiheart derived PAEE; CPD = counts per day

Figures are Bland Altman plots showing the agreement between DLW PAEE and PAEE models. The center line is the mean difference and the upper and lower lines are 1.96XSD of the mean difference. Also shown is the regression line between the mean difference and absolute magnitude of PAEE and corresponding r and p-values.

4 The Associations of Objectively Measured Physical Activity with Cardiovascular and Metabolic Risk Factors in Yup'ik People ³

Abstract

Objectives: The goals of this study were to: 1) measure the intensity, duration and frequency of physical activity; and 2) determine the relationships between these measures and health-related variables in a study population of Yup'ik adults living in a remote region of southwestern Alaska.

Methods: Physical activity was estimated with the Actiheart, a combined heart rate/movement monitor, in 580 Yup'ik adults from 11 communities in southwestern Alaska, of whom reliable activity data were obtained in 534. We determined Spearman correlations (r_s) between health-related variables and counts per day (CPD) from accelerometry movement registration, moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), and sedentary time. Generalized linear models were used to predict weight, BMI, waist circumference (WC), percent body fat (PBF), total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, and non-HDL cholesterol, fasting glucose, and blood pressure from CPD, MVPA, and sedentary time. Age, sex, monitor wear time, and weight (when appropriate) were included as covariates.

³ Bray M, Pomeroy J, Knowler WC, Havel P, Hopkins S, Boyer BB, et al. The Associations of Objectively Measured Physical Activity with Cardiovascular and Metabolic Risk Factors in Yup'ik People. In preparation for Annals of Internal Medicine.

Results: After adjustment for covariates, accelerometry CPD was positively associated with HDL cholesterol (r_s =0.13, r_s =0.15 men and women respectively) and negatively associated with body weight, BMI, WC, PBF and triglycerides (r_s range from -0.17 to -0.25 in men and -0.19 to -0.21 in women). MVPA was only associated with fasting glucose. Sedentary time was positively associated with body weight, WC, and PBF (r_s range from 0.10 to 0.18 in women) and negatively associated with HDL cholesterol (r_s =-0.19 in women).

Conclusions: Accumulation of regular movement of any intensity while decreasing sedentary time may be more important for health in Yup'ik people than MVPA.

Introduction

Physical activity has a key role in health, but the importance of duration, frequency, and intensity of activity to health remains unclear. The World Health Organization (WHO) and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (DHHS) recommend 30 minutes of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) 5 days of the week (1-2). The optimal physical activity recommendations are inconsistent, however, with different recommendations emphasizing: 1) high intensity, short duration activity (3-5); 2) total movement accumulated, regardless of the intensity (6-7); or 3) decreasing sedentary time (8-12). To understand which subcomponents of physical activity are most important for maintaining health, we must accurately quantify duration, frequency and intensity of habitual physical activity. Most research on the relationship between physical activity and health has relied on self-reported assessments (13). Self-report is convenient, but subject to recall bias and socially acceptable response bias (14). Accurate objective measurements are needed for understanding the dose-response relationship between physical activity and health (15). The Actiheart monitor, a combined heart rate (HR) monitor and accelerometer (ACC), provides an objective measure of physical activity from which intensity, duration, frequency, and physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) can be estimated. Understanding associations of physical activity with obesity and obesity-related comorbidities will provide insight into developing effective prevention strategies.

The goals of this study were to: 1) measure the intensity, duration and frequency of physical activity; and 2) determine the relationships between these measures and health-related variables, including T2D in a study population of Yup'ik adults living in a remote region of southwestern Alaska.

Methods

A cross-sectional health study was conducted from 2007-2011 among Yup'ik people living in 11 rural communities located in the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta region of southwestern Alaska. Physical activity was assessed using the Actiheart, a combined heart rate/accelerometer monitor (CamNtech Ltd, Cambridge UK). Study participants included 580 men and non-pregnant women (by self-report) aged ≥ 18 years. The study protocol was approved by the University of Alaska Fairbanks institutional review board and the Yukon-Kuskokwim Health Corporation Human Studies Committee. Participants provided written informed consent.

Anthropometric, blood pressure, fasting glucose, lipids, and hormone measurements were made as previously described (16). Low-density lipoprotein cholesterol (LDL) was calculated using the Freidwald formula (LDL = total cholesterol – HDL cholesterol – triglycerides/5) (17) and non-HDL cholesterol was calculated as total cholesterol – HDL cholesterol.

Previously diagnosed T2D was abstracted from medical records (ICD-9 code 250). Individuals having fasting glucose \geq 126 mg/dL (7.0 mmol/L) or HbA1c \geq 6.5% were considered to have T2D (18). Impaired fasting glucose (IFG) was defined as fasting glucose \geq 100 mg/dL (5.6 mmol/L) and < 126 mg/dL (7.0 mmol/L).

The Actiheart

The Actiheart is a chest-worn monitor consisting of a heart rate monitor and accelerometer. It can record time-stamped HR and activity counts (from the ACC) at 15, 30 or 60 second intervals (epochs). It is light weight (8 grams) and can be worn during all activities, including swimming and bathing, except steam baths or sauna, only because the extreme heat melts the electrode adhesive.

Actiheart for Free-living Conditions

The monitor was programmed for long-term wear and set to record data at 30 second intervals. Participants were asked to wear it at all times for 4 days, including during sleep. They were instructed to remove the unit only during steam baths. Participants developing rashes or skin irritation were treated with hydrocortisone ointment, and the monitor was repositioned. Participants were asked to record information about daily activities in an activity diary and indicate the time and reason the monitor was removed. Participants who had less than 1000 minutes of wear time (43 people) or >150,000 activity counts per day (CPD) (3 participants) were excluded from the analysis if it was verified that they were not extremely active (based on their activity diary). Three other participants (all young men) with more than 150,000 CPD appeared to have good quality data and, according to self-report, were extremely active. Their data were used, although they were excluded from some analyses as influential outliers.

Physical Activity Subcomponents

The physical activity subcomponents analyzed included: 1) total movement in CPD taken from ACC counts only; 2) total ACC sedentary time (classified as minutes with less than 10 ACC counts and a valid heart rate); 3) time spent sedentary in periods of 30 minutes or greater; 4) total number of sedentary periods lasting at least 30 minutes; 5) total time spent in MVPA (min/day), defined by periods when the HR was at least 1.75 x sleeping HR; 6) time spent in MVPA in bouts of at least 10 consecutive minutes; and 7) total number of MVPA bouts lasting at least 10 minutes. The physical activity subcomponents were evaluated outside of the monitor software from the minute-by-minute data collected using SAS for Windows (version 9.3). Total CPD is correlated with PAEE r=0.50095% CI(0.130 to 0.739), and thus was used as a proxy for PAEE (see Chapter 3). Time spent sedentary in bouts of 30 minutes or greater was chosen because increased sedentary time (\geq 30 minutes) is associated with decreased insulin sensitivity (11, 19). A threshold of 1.75X sleeping HR was used to identify MVPA rather than using the typical metabolic equivalent (MET) level of 3 METs. The MET level assumes a constant for resting metabolic rate (RMR) of 3.5 ml oxygen/kg/min based on a "standard" 70kg man, which often overestimates the true RMR (20-22). The time spent in MVPA in bouts of at least 10 minutes of duration was chosen because of the physical activity recommendations made by

the WHO and DHHS to accumulate MVPA in bouts of at least 10 minutes in length (23-24).

Statistical analyses

SAS for Windows (version 9.3) was used for statistical analyses. Continuous variables were tested for normality; many were not normally distributed and could not be normalized with simple transformations. Therefore, Spearman's correlation coefficients and appropriate non-parametric tests were used.

Generalized linear modeling was used to investigate the relationship between non-wear time, CPD, MVPA, and sedentary time to ensure that a linear adjustment was appropriate. No quadratic relationship was seen; therefore a linear adjustment for non-wear time was used in subsequent analyses.

Correlation of Physical Activity with Lipids, Hormones, and Blood

Pressure

Spearman's correlation coefficient was used to determine the associations of physical activity subcomponents to health-related variables (body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, LDL cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol, triglycerides, fasting glucose, systolic and diastolic blood pressure) in men and women combined, as well as men and women separately. Correlations with body size variables (body weight, BMI, WC, and percent body fat) are controlled for age and monitor wear time. Correlations with lipids,
glucose, and blood pressures are controlled for age, body weight, and monitor wear-time. When men and women are combined, correlations are controlled for sex as well. A test of equality of two correlations for a single sample (25) was used to determine whether correlations of each physical activity component and a given health-related variable were significantly different from the physical activity component with the highest correlation. Results are reported for combined men and women.

General linear models were used to predict each of the health-related variables from a subset of the physical activity subcomponents, including CPD, total MVPA time, and total sedentary time. Time spent sedentary in periods of at least 30 minutes, the total number of sedentary periods \geq 30 minutes, total time spent in MVPA in bouts at least 10 minutes, and the total number of MVPA bouts lasting at least 10 minutes were not included in the models. The information gained from these variables was captured in total MVPA time and total sedentary time. All models included age, sex, and monitor wear time as covariates. In addition to age, sex, and monitor wear time, models for lipids, fasting glucose, and blood pressures also included body weight as a covariate. Variables were standardized to a mean=0 and a SD=1 and standardized beta coefficients are reported. Analyses were conducted on the entire study population as well as stratified by sex and community location (inland or coastal). Stratification by community location was done to determine if there was a difference between activity patterns of different types of communities according to how far the participants lived from the hub city of Bethel, AK (population of 6200). Coastal communities (n=7, median population of 354) were on average 114 miles from Bethel, whereas inland communities (n=4, median population of 598) were less than 30 miles away.

Results

Demographic and health-related data are shown in Table 4-1. Men and women differed in age, height, weight, BMI, percent body fat, total cholesterol, HDL cholesterol, and systolic blood pressure, but not in fasting glucose, LDL cholesterol, non-HDL cholesterol, triglycerides or diastolic blood pressure. None of the demographic or health-related variables differed by community location (inland or coastal).

Activity data, stratified by sex are shown in Table 4-2. Men accumulated more CPD and time spent in MVPA than women (total MVPA, MVPA in bouts \geq 10 min, and total MVPA bouts \geq 10 min). Men and women did not differ in sedentary behavior (total sedentary time, total time spent in sedentary periods ≥30 min, and total sedentary periods ≥30 min) (Table 4-2). Men from inland and coastal communities did not differ in their activity behaviors (data not shown). Coastal and inland women however, differed from one another in total sedentary time, total MVPA time, and total MVPA time in bouts ≥10 min. Women on the coast had more MVPA, but also spent more time sedentary than did women from inland communities (data not shown). Stratifying by community location did not affect associations described below, so community location is not considered further.

In general, Yup'ik people in this study met or exceeded the recommendations for the minimum amount of MVPA set by the DHHS (≥ 150 min per week) to gain health benefits from physical activity (1-2). On average, Yup'ik men spent 156 min/day (1092 min/week) in MVPA (728% of the recommended 150 min per week) and Yup'ik women spent 100 min/day (700 min/week) in MVPA (467% of the recommended 150 min/week). Even Yup'ik women from inland communities (the least active group), far exceeded the physical activity recommendations by getting 553 min of MVPA/week (369% the recommendation for MVPA per week).

Physical Activity and Health-Related Variables – Correlations

Tables 4-3, 4-4, and 4-5 show the Spearman correlation coefficients of physical activity subcomponents with health-related variables for men and

women combined, men only, and women only respectively. With men and women combined total CPD was negatively correlated with body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, and triglycerides and positively correlated with HDL cholesterol. Total sedentary time was positively correlated with body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, and triglycerides and negatively correlated with HDL cholesterol. Total MVPA, time spent in MVPA in bouts at least 10 min, and total bouts of MVPA in bouts at least 10 min were negatively correlated with fasting glucose. Total CPD was more strongly correlated with the greatest number of health-related variables than sedentary time or MVPA (Table 4-3).

In men, total CPD was correlated with the greatest number of health-related variables (Table 4-4). Total CPD was negatively associated with body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, and triglycerides, and positively associated with HDL cholesterol. In men, fasting glucose was negatively correlated with total MVPA, time spent in MVPA in bouts at least 10 min, and total bouts of MVPA in bouts at least 10 min. The only significant correlation found with sedentary behavior was a negative correlation with percent body fat. In men, no other physical activity subcomponents were significantly correlated with the health-related variables investigated.

In women, total CPD and total sedentary time were correlated with more health-related variables (Table 4-5) than were the other physical activity components. Total CPD was negatively correlated with body weight, BMI, WC, and percent body fat, and positively correlated with HDL cholesterol. Total sedentary time was positively correlated with body weight, BMI, WC, and percent body fat, and negatively correlated with HDL cholesterol. The number of sedentary periods lasting at least 30 min was positively correlated with SBP. No other significant relationships were found between PA subcomponents, including MPVA, and health-related variables in women.

Diabetes and Physical Activity Subcomponents

In this study population, only 7 participants had previously diagnosed T2D, while only 8 had diabetes discovered in the survey by fasting plasma glucose \geq 126 mg/dl (3 participants) or a HbA1c \geq 6.5% (5 participants). Therefore, the number of participants with diabetes was insufficient for meaningful analysis of associations with physical activity.

Modeling Health-Related Variables from Physical Activity Variables with Linear Regression – Expressing Standardized β Coefficients

Table 4-6 shows the standardized beta coefficients (SE) for modeling healthrelated variables from physical activity subcomponents. Total CPD was positively associated with HDL cholesterol and negatively associated with body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, and triglycerides. Sedentary time was negatively associated with HDL cholesterol and positively associated with BMI, WC, percent body fat, and triglycerides. MVPA was negatively associated with total cholesterol and fasting glucose.

Discussion

Physical activity is all activity performed throughout the day, including planned exercise and non-exercise activity. The subcomponents of physical activity that are most effective for staying healthy are unknown. Our research suggests that total activity (CPD), not MVPA or time spent sedentary, is the subcomponent most strongly associated with the health-related variables, including body weight, BMI, waist circumference, percent body fat, HDL cholesterol, and triglycerides. To our knowledge this study is novel in that we investigate the relationships of objectively measured MVPA, sedentary time, and total activity in CPD with a large number of health-related variables while others have only looked at the relationships of MVPA and time spent sedentary.

The physical activity recommendations from the WHO and DHHS focus on MVPA for improving health (1-2), however much of this evidence has been collected through self-report methods which can be biased. Our findings based on objectively measured physical activity do not support this recommendation. CPD was more strongly related to health variables than MVPA. In fact, MVPA was only associated with fasting glucose.

Many studies have shown a significant relationship between self-reported sedentary time (often TV watching, as a proxy for sedentary behavior) and an increased risk for all-cause mortality, CVD, and risk factors (12, 26-28). When sedentary time has been measured using objective measures, sedentary time was positively associated with fasting glucose, lipids, BMI, WC, percent body fat, blood pressure, and metabolic syndrome (8-11, 29-30). We found that total time spent sedentary (based on ACC counts) was positively associated with body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, and triglycerides and negatively associated with HDL cholesterol (Tables 4-3, 4-4, and 4-5). The lack of association that we observed between sedentary time and health-related variables like fasting glucose, blood pressure, and total and LDL cholesterol may in part be due to the way in which sedentary time is accumulated in this population. Healy et al. found that independent of total time spent sedentary, frequent breaks in sedentary behavior were beneficially associated with BMI, WC, triglycerides, and 2-hour plasma glucose (31). The remote subsistence lifestyle (hunting and gathering activities) of the people living in southwestern Alaska may promote frequent interruptions in sedentary activity, which may be why we do not see the negative associations of sedentary behavior on fasting glucose that is seen in other populations.

Total CPD (PAEE) accumulates through all forms of movement, including MVPA such as planned exercise as well as activities of self-care and non-planned physical activity of daily living. Non-exercise activity helps to maintain leanness (32-33) and is associated with changes in health-related variables that help to reduce the risk for metabolic related disease (34-37). It accounts for the daily activities that are not undertaken with the intent of "exercise". Non-exercise activities can be of any intensity. They accumulate and add to the energy expenditure above resting energy expenditure. Increases in activity would lead to increases in total CPD. Yup'ik people often report engaging in non-exercise activities like fishing, hunting, berry picking, or household work, and not "planned exercise." The activity of their subsistence lifestyle however, leads to increased CPD and increased PAEE.

Study Strengths and Limitations

Objectively measured heart rate and accelerometry for determining the subcomponents of physical activity, including MVPA, sedentary time, and CPD (PAEE) is a particular strength of this study. The finding that total activity in CPD is most strongly associated health-related variables is exciting; however it is acknowledged that this is a cross-sectional study in a single population which warrants future research of which investigates this relationship over time and in other populations.

Conclusions

Although current physical activity recommendations from the WHO and DHHS focus on recommendations that include the frequency, duration, and intensity of exercise, the positive health benefits found to be associated with non-exercise activities and our findings related to total CPD and MVPA time support the development of recommendations for increasing total movement, regardless of intensity.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by Award Number R01DK074842 and P20RR016430 (Boyer). Dr. Peter Havel's laboratory receives support from National Institutes of Health grants HL075675, HL091333, HL107256, AT003545, and DK097307. This work was supported in part by the Intramural Research Program of the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases and to the University of Alaska President's Professors Fund for travel by Dr. William Knowler. The Presidents' Professors Fund is supported by unrestricted donations from British Petroleum and Conoco-Phillips. We thank the community field research assistants and the computer/data management and administrative staff members: Michelle Dondanville, Jynene Black, Cristiane Kaufmann, and Salena Bias. In addition, we are grateful to the members and leaders of Yup'ik communities of the Yukon-Kuskokwim Delta region in Southwest Alaska for their cooperation and participation in our study. Quyana!

References:

1. Global recommendations on physical activity and health. World Health Organization. Switzerland: WHO Press; 2010.

2. US Dept of Health and Human Services. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans.

3. Little JP, Safdar A, Wilkin GP, Tarnopolsky MA, Gibala MJ. A practical model of low-volume high-intensity interval training induces mitochondrial biogenesis in human skeletal muscle: potential mechanisms. J. Physiol. (Lond.). 2010;588(Pt 6):1011–22.

4. Hood MS, Little JP, Tarnopolsky MA, Myslik F, Gibala MJ. Low-volume interval training improves muscle oxidative capacity in sedentary adults. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2011;43(10):1849–56.

5. Burgomaster KA, Cermak NM, Phillips SM, Benton CR, Bonen A, Gibala MJ. Divergent response of metabolite transport proteins in human skeletal muscle after sprint interval training and detraining. Am. J. Physiol. Regul. Integr. Comp. Physiol. 2007;292(5):R1970–1976.

6. Camhi SM, Sisson SB, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT, Tudor-Locke C. Accelerometer-determined moderate intensity lifestyle activity and cardiometabolic health. Prev Med. 2011;52(5):358–60.

7. Sisson SB, Camhi SM, Church TS, Tudor-Locke C, Johnson WD, Katzmarzyk PT. Accelerometer-determined steps/day and metabolic syndrome. Am J Prev Med. 2010;38(6):575–82.

8. Celis-Morales CA, Perez-Bravo F, Ibañez L, Salas C, Bailey MES, Gill JMR. Objective vs. self-reported physical activity and sedentary time: effects of measurement method on relationships with risk biomarkers. PLoS ONE. 2012;7(5):e36345.

9. Ekelund U, Luan J, Sherar LB, Esliger DW, Griew P, Cooper A. Moderate to vigorous physical activity and sedentary time and cardiometabolic risk factors in children and adolescents. JAMA. 2012;307(7):704–12.

10. Healy GN, Wijndaele K, Dunstan DW, Shaw JE, Salmon J, Zimmet PZ, et al. Objectively Measured Sedentary Time, Physical Activity, and Metabolic Risk The Australian Diabetes, Obesity and Lifestyle Study (AusDiab). Dia Care. 2008;31(2):369–71. 11. Helmerhorst HJF, Wijndaele K, Brage S, Wareham NJ, Ekelund U. Objectively measured sedentary time may predict insulin resistance independent of moderate- and vigorous-intensity physical activity. Diabetes. 2009;58(8):1776–9.

12. Hu FB, Li TY, Colditz GA, Willett WC, Manson JE. Television watching and other sedentary behaviors in relation to risk of obesity and type 2 diabetes mellitus in women. JAMA. 2003;289(14):1785–91.

13. Advisory Committee Report [Internet]. [cited 2012 Sep 30]. Available from: http://www.health.gov/paguidelines/Report/Default.aspx

14. Nicaise V, Marshall S, Ainsworth BE. Domain-specific physical activity and self-report bias among low-income Latinas living in San Diego County. J Phys Act Health. 2011;8(7):881–90.

15. Thorp AA, Owen N, Neuhaus M, Dunstan DW. Sedentary behaviors and subsequent health outcomes in adults a systematic review of longitudinal studies, 1996-2011. Am J Prev Med. 2011;41(2):207–15.

16. Boyer BB, Mohatt GV, Plaetke R, Herron J, Stanhope KL, Stephensen C, et al. Metabolic syndrome in Yup'ik Eskimos: the Center for Alaska Native Health Research (CANHR) Study. Obesity (Silver Spring). 2007;15(11):2535–40.

17. Friedewald WT, Levy RI, Fredrickson DS. Estimation of the concentration of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol in plasma, without use of the preparative ultracentrifuge. Clin. Chem. 1972;18(6):499–502.

18. American Diabetes Association. Diagnosis and Classification of Diabetes Mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2011;35(Supplement_1):S64–S71.

19. Ekelund U, Brage S, Griffin SJ, Wareham NJ. Objectively measuredm- and vigorous-intensity physical activity but not sedentary time predicts insulin resistance in high-risk individuals. Dia Care. 2009;32(6):1081–6.

20. Byrne NM, Hills AP, Hunter GR, Weinsier RL, Schutz Y. Metabolic equivalent: one size does not fit all. J Appl Physiol. 2005;99(3):1112–9.

21. Gunn SM, Brooks AG, Withers RT, Gore CJ, Owen N, Booth ML, et al. Determining energy expenditure during some household and garden tasks. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2002;34(5):895–902.

22. Gunn SM, Van der Ploeg GE, Withers RT, Gore CJ, Owen N, Bauman AE, et al. Measurement and prediction of energy expenditure in males during household and garden tasks. Eur. J. Appl. Physiol. 2004;91(1):61–70.

23. WHO | Physical Activity and Adults [Internet]. [cited 2012 Oct 5]. Available from:

http://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/factsheet_adults/en/index.html

24. At-A-Glance: A Fact Sheet for Professionals [Internet]. [cited 2012 Oct 5]. Available from: http://www.health.gov/paguidelines/factsheetprof.aspx

25. DG Kleinbaum, Kupper LL, Muller KE, Nizam A, Kupper, LL, Muller, KE, Nizam, A (1988) Testing for the Equality of Two Correlations. In: Applied regression analysis and other multivariable methods. PWS Publishing Co.: 99-100.

26. Dunstan DW, Salmon J, Owen N, Armstrong T, Zimmet PZ, Welborn TA, et al. Physical activity and television viewing in relation to risk of undiagnosed abnormal glucose metabolism in adults. Diabetes Care. 2004;27(11):2603–9.

27. Jakes RW, Day NE, Khaw K-T, Luben R, Oakes S, Welch A, et al. Television viewing and low participation in vigorous recreation are independently associated with obesity and markers of cardiovascular disease risk: EPIC-Norfolk population-based study. Eur J Clin Nutr. 2003;57(9):1089–96.

28. Ford ES, Caspersen CJ. Sedentary behaviour and cardiovascular disease: a review of prospective studies. Int J Epidemiol. 2012;41(5):1338–53.

29. Healy GN, Matthews CE, Dunstan DW, Winkler EAH, Owen N. Sedentary time and cardio-metabolic biomarkers in US adults: NHANES 2003-06. Eur. Heart J. 2011;32(5):590–7.

30. Assah FK, Ekelund U, Brage S, Mbanya JC, Wareham NJ. Free-living physical activity energy expenditure is strongly related to glucose intolerance in Cameroonian adults independently of obesity. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(2):367–9.

31. Healy GN, Dunstan DW, Salmon J, Cerin E, Shaw JE, Zimmet PZ, et al. Breaks in sedentary time beneficial associations with metabolic risk. Dia Care. 2008;31(4):661–6.

Levine JA, Eberhardt NL, Jensen MD. Role of nonexercise activity
thermogenesis in resistance to fat gain in humans. Science. 1999;283(5399):212–
4.

33. Levine JA. Nonexercise activity thermogenesis--liberating the life-force. J. Intern. Med. 2007;262(3):273–87.

34. Hamilton MT, Hamilton DG, Zderic TW. Exercise physiology versus inactivity physiology: an essential concept for understanding lipoprotein lipase regulation. Exerc Sport Sci Rev. 2004;32(4):161–6.

35. Hamilton MT, Hamilton DG, Zderic TW. Role of low energy expenditure and sitting in obesity, metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular disease. Diabetes. 2007;56(11):2655–67.

36. Dunstan DW, Kingwell BA, Larsen R, Healy GN, Cerin E, Hamilton MT, et al. Breaking up prolonged sitting reduces postprandial glucose and insulin responses. Diabetes Care. 2012;35(5):976–83.

37. Bey L, Hamilton MT. Suppression of skeletal muscle lipoprotein lipase activity during physical inactivity: a molecular reason to maintain daily low-intensity activity. J. Physiol. (Lond.). 2003;551(Pt 2):673–82.

	Units	Men	Women
N		248	286
Age *	years	37 (23, 51)	40 (25, 55)
Weight *	kg	70.1 (63.3, 81.0)	67.5 (58.6, 81.3)
Height *	m	1.69 (1.63, 1.73)	1.56 (1.52, 1.60)
BMI *	kg/m²	24.3 (22.4, 29.2)	28.1 (24.0, 34.3)
Body fat *	%	18.7 (14.7, 26.4)	37.1(29.9, 42.6)
Fat free mass *	kg	56.8 (52.1, 61.2)	43.3 (40.6, 46.9)
Fat mass *	kg	12.5 (9.3 <i>,</i> 20.5)	25.0 (17.1, 34.8)
Waist Circumference	cm	86.3 (78.4, 100.4)	90.0 (79.4, 102.0)
Total Cholesterol *	mg/dL	188 (159, 220)	195 (174, 226)
HDL Cholesterol *	mg/dL	55 (45.5, 68)	66 (55, 82)
LDL Cholesterol	mg/dL	110.2 (89.6,	
		143. 1)	116.1 (93.2, 136.2)
Non-HDL Cholesterol	mg/dL	123.5 (103, 159)	130 (107, 154)
Triglycerides	mg/dL	60 (44, 92)	68 (46, 92)
Fasting glucose	mg/dL	92 (86, 99)	91 (87, 97)
Systolic BP *	mm/Hg	120 (112, 128)	113 (104, 124)
Diastolic BP	mm/Hg	69 (62, 75)	67(61, 75)

Table 4-1: Clinical Characteristics of Yup'ik People with Reliable Activity Measurements

BMI = body mass index. ¹Values listed are median (25th centile, 75th centile).

* Indicates that men and women differ significantly (p<0.05 by Wilcoxon's signed rank test).

.

	Units	Men	Women
		248	286
Energy Expenditure	kcal		
PAEE CPD Model		1140 (961, 1370)	620 (493, 776)
REE		1692 (1591, 1827)	1412 (1310, 1545)
Activity			
Total activity *	1000 CPD	50.4 (34.9, 70.9)	32.6 (22.0, 43.4)
Total MVPA (based on HR) *	min/day	156 (68, 289)	100 (43, 227)
MVPA in bouts ≥ 10 min (based on HR) *	min/day	113 (48, 215)	66 (25, 166)
Total Sedentary time (based on ACC)	min/day	831 (741, 923)	848 (755, 922)
Sedentary time in bouts ≥ 30 min (based on ACC)	min/day	373 (277, 462)	399 (326 <i>,</i> 466)
Total # of MVPA bouts ≥ 10 min	bouts/day	4.8 (2.0, 6.0)	2.9 (1.5, 5.0)
Total # of Sedentary periods ≥ 30 min	b outs/day	5.4 (4.5, 6.4)	5.3 (4.5, 6.2)

Table 4-2: Physical Activity Characteristics of Yup'ik Participants

PAEE = physical activity energy expenditure, REE = resting energy expenditure, HR = heart rate, MVPA = moderate and vigorous physical activity, ACC = accelerometry, CPD = counts/day ¹ Values listed are median (25th centile, 75th centile). * Indicates that men and women differ significantly at the alpha=0.05 level.

	body	body total					non-HDL					
	weight	BMI	WC	% body fat	cholesterol	HDL	LDL	cholesterol	triglyceride	glucose	syst bp	diast bp
Activity Measurements					_							
Total Activity (counts/day)	-0.23* (-0.31, -0.14)	-0.20* (-0.28, -0.12)	-0.21* {-0.29, -0.13}	-0.22* {-0.30, -0.14}	0.003 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.14* (0.06, 0.23)	-0.01 (-0.10, 0.07)	-0.0 6 (-0.15, 0.02)	-0.14* (-0.23, -0.06)	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.07)	-0.07 (-0.16, 0.01)	-0.06 (-0.15, 0.02)
Total Sedentary time (min/day)	0.13* (0.04, 0.21)	0.0 9* (0, 0.17)	0.11* (0.03, 0.19)	0. 12* (0.04, 0.2)	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.06)	-0.11* {-0.19, -0.02}	-0.01 (-0.10, 0.08)	0.02 (-0.06, 0.11)	0.09* (0.01, 0.18)	0.02 (-0.06, 0.11)	0.03 (-0.05, 0.12)	0.02 (-0.07, 0.10)
Sedentary time in periods ≥30 min (min/day)	0.02 {-0.07, 0.11}	-0.02 {-0.11, 0.06}	-0.01 (-0.01, 0.07)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.07)	0.02 (-0.07, 0.10)	-0.02 (-0.10, 0.07)	0.03 (-0.06, 0.11)	0.02 (-0.06, 0.11)	-0.04 (-0.13, 0.04)	-0.07 (-0.15, 0.02)	0.003 (-0.09, 0 .08)	-0.08 {-0.16, 0.01}
Total # of Sedentary periods ≥ 30 min (bouts/day)	0.03 (-0.06, 0.11)	0.01 (-0.08, 0.09)	0.02 (-0.07, 0.10)	0.05 (-0.04, 0.13)	-0.04 (-0.12, 0.05)	-0.04 (-0.13, 0.04)	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.07)	0.00 4 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.04 {-0.05, 0.12}	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.0 6)	0.04 (-0.05, 0.12)	0.06 (-0.03, 0.14)
Total MVPA (min/day)	-0.04 (-0.12, 0.05)	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.06)	-0.03 (-0.11, 0.05)	0.001 (-0.08, 0.09)	-0.03 (-0.11, 0.06)	-0.01 (-0.10, 0.08)	-0.01 (-0.09, 0.08)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.07)	-0.06 (-0.14, 0.03)	-0.13* (-0.22, -0.05)	0.01 (-0.07, 0.10)	0.01 (-0.07, 0.10)
MVPA in bouts ≥10 min (min/day)	-0.0004 (-0.09, 0.09)	0.003 (-0.08, 0.09)	-0.002 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.03 (-0.06, 0.11)	-0.02 (-0.11, 0.06)	0.004 (-0.09, 0.08)	0.002 (-0.08, 0.09)	0.002 (-0.09, 0.08)	-0.05 (-0.14, 0.03)	-0.12* (-0.21, -0.04)	0.02 (-0.07, 0.11)	0.002 {-0.08, 0.09}
Total # of MVPA bouts ≥ 10 min (bouts/day)	-0.01 (-0.09, 0.08)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.07)	-0.01 (-0.1, 0.07)	0.003 (-0.08, 0.09)	-0.01 (-0.10, 0.07)	0.01 (-0.08, 0.09)	0.01 (-0.08, 0.09)	0.002 (-0.08, 0.09)	-0.07 (-0.15, 0.02)	-0.16* (-0.24, -0.07)	0.03 (-0.05, 0.12)	0.0006 (-0.08, 0.09)

Table 4-3: Correlations of PA to Health-Related Variables in Yup'ik Men & Women Combined

N=531

* indicates significant correlation at alpha=0.05

PA = physical activity; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; MVPA = moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Values listed for the continuous variables are Spearman's Correlation coefficients and 95% CL. Correlations between PA components and body size variables (body weight, BMI, WC, and percent body fat) are partialled for age, sex, and monitor wear time. Correlations between PA components and lipids, glucose, and blood pressures are partialled for age, sex, body weight, and monitor wear-time. The physical activity component that is significantly and most strongly correlated with a health-related variable is indicated by **bold and italic** text.

	body				total			non-HDL				
	weight	BMI	WC	% body fat	cholesterol	HDL	LDL	cholesterol	triglyceride	glucose	syst bp	diast bp
Activity Measurements			-									
Total Activity (counts/day)	-0.25* (-0.37 ,-0.13)	-0.19* (-0.31 ,-0.07)	-0.21* (-0.33 ,-0.09)	-0.18* (-0.30 ,-0.05)	-0.02 (-0.14 ,0.11)	0.13* (0.01 ,0.25)	0.003 (-0.13 ,0.12)	-0.06 (-0.19 ,0.07)	-0.17* (-0.29 ,-0.04)	0.02 (-0.11 ,0.14)	-0.06 (-0.18 ,0.07)	-0.09 (-0.21 ,0.04)
Total Sedentary time (min/day)	0.08 {-0.05 ,0.20}	0.02 (-0.11 ,0.14)	0.04 (-0.09 ,0.16)	-0.03 (-0.16 ,0.09)	-0.01 (-0.13 ,0.12)	-0.07 (-0.19 ,0.06)	-0.04 (-0.17 ,0.09)	-0.0009 {-0.13 ,0.13}	0.11 (-0.01 ,0.23)	0.01 (-0.12 ,0.13)	0.05 (-0.08 ,0.17)	0.04 (-0.09 ,0.16)
Sedentary time in periods ≥30 min (min/day)	-0.05 (-0.17 ,0.08)	-0.09 (-0.21 ,0.04)	-0.09 (-0.21 ,0.04)	-0.14* (-0.26 ,-0.02)	0.001 (-0.13 ,0.12)	0.03 (-0.09 ,0.16)	-0.03 (-0.16 ,0.10)	-0.03 (-0.15 ,0.10)	-0.06 (-0.18 ,0.07)	-0.05 (-0.17 ,0.08)	-0.02 (-0.15 ,0.11)	-0.07 (-0.19 ,0.06)
Total # of Sedentary periods ≥ 30 min (bouts/day)	-0.08 (-0.21 ,0.04)	-0.07 {-0.20 ,0. 05 }	-0.08 (-0.21 ,0.05)	-0.07 (-0.19 ,0.06)	0.005 {-0.12 ,0.13}	0.03 (-0.09 ,0.16)	-0.04 (-0.16 ,0.09)	-0.02 (-0.15 ,0.10)	0.03 (-0.09 ,0.16)	-0.02 (-0.15 ,0.10)	-0.03 (-0.16 ,0.09)	0.04 (-0.08 ,0.17)
Total MVPA (min/day)	0.004 {-0.13 ,0.12}	0.07 (-0.06 ,0.19)	0.05 (-0.07 ,0. 18)	0.11 (-0.02 ,0.23)	-0.10 (-0.22 ,0.03)	0.04 (-0.09 ,0.17)	-0.09 (-0.22 ,0.03)	-0.10 (-0.22 ,0.03)	-0.09 (-0.21 ,0.04)	-0.18* (-0.29 ,-0.05)	-0.05 (-0.17 ,0.08)	-0.03 (-0.16 ,0.09)
MVPA in bouts ≥10 min (min/day)	0.04 (-0.08 ,0.17)	0.09 (-0.04 ,0.21)	0.08 (-0.05 ,0.20)	0.12 (-0.01 ,0.24)	-0.08 (-0.21 ,0.04)	0.05 (-0.08 ,0.17)	-0.07 (-0.20 , 0.05)	-0.08 (-0.21 ,0.04)	-0.10 (-0.23 ,0.02)	-0.18* (-0.30 ,-0.06)	-0.04 (-0.16 ,0.09)	-0.03 (-0.15 ,0.10)
Total # of MVPA bouts ≥ 10 min (bouts/day)	0.03 (-0.10 ,0.15)	0.05 (-0.07 ,0.18)	0.05 (-0.07 ,0.18)	0.08 (-0.05 ,0.20)	-0.05 (-0.17 ,0.08)	0.09 (-0.03 ,0.22)	-0.05 {-0.18 ,0.07}	-0.07 (-0.19 ,0.06)	-0.14 (-0.26 ,-0.01)	-0.24* (-0.36 ,-0.12)	-0.08 (-0.21 ,0.04)	-0.04 {-0.17 ,0.08}

Table 4-4: Correlations of PA to Health-Related Variables in Yup'ik Men

N=245

* indicates significant correlation at alpha=0.05

PA = physical activity; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; MVPA = moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Values listed for the continuous variables are Spearman's Correlation coefficients and 95% CI. Correlations between PA components and body size

variables (body weight, BMI, WC, and %body fat) are partialled for age and monitor wear time. Correlations between PA components and lipids, glucose, and blood pressures are partialled for age, body weight, and monitor wear-time.

	body				total			non-HDL				
	weight	BMI	wc	% body fat	cholesterol	HDL	LDL	cholesterol	triglyceride	glucose	syst bp	diast bp
Activity Measurements												
Total Activity (counts/day)	-0.20* (-0.31 ,-0.09)	-0.19* (-0.30 ,-0.08)	-0.21* (-0.32 ,-0.10)	-0.20* (-0.31 ,-0.09)	0.02 {-0.10, 0.14}	0.15* (0.03, 0.26)	-0.03 (-0.15, 0.09)	-0.06 (-0.17, 0.06)	-0.10 (-0.22, 0.01)	-0.04 (-0.15, 0.08)	-0.07 {-0.18, 0.05}	-0.04 (-0.16, 0.07)
Total Sedentary time (min/day)	0.16* (0.05 ,0.27)	0.1 4 * (0.03 ,0.25)	0.17* (0.05 ,0.28)	0.19* (0.07 ,0.30)	-0.02 (-0.14,0.10)	-0.13* (-0.24,-0.01)	0.03 (-0.09,0.15)	0.06 (-0.06,0.17)	0.08 (-0.04,0.20)	0.05 (-0.07,0.16)	0.01 (-0.10,0.13)	-0.01 (-0.13,0.10)
Sedentary time in periods ≥30 min (min/dəy)	0.07 (-0.05 ,0.18)	0.05 {-0.07 ,0.17}	0.07 (-0.05 ,0.18)	0.07 (-0.04 ,0.19)	0.04 (-0.08,0.15)	-0.07 (-0.18,0.05)	0.09 (-0.02,0.21)	0.09 (-0.03,0.2)	-0.01 (-0.12,0.11)	-0.08 (-0.19,0.04)	-0.01 (-0.13,0.11)	-0.08 (-0.2,0.03)
Total # of Sedentary periods ≥ 30 min (bouts/day)	0.10 {-0.02 ,0.21}	0.05 (-0.06 ,0.17)	0.08 {-0.04 ,0.19}	0.09 (-0.03 ,0.20)	-0.07 (-0.18,0.05)	-0.10 (-0.22,0.01)	0.0002 (-0.12,0.12)	0.02 (-0.10,0.14)	0.04 (-0.08,0.16)	-0.01 (-0.13,0.10)	0.13* (0.02,0.25)	0.06 (-0.05,0.18)
Total MVP A (min /d ay)	-0.06 (-0.18 ,0.05)	-0.11 (-0.22 ,0.01)	-0.10 (-0.22 ,0.01)	-0.06 (-0.18 ,0.05)	0.004 (-0.11,0.12)	-0.03 (-0.14,0.09)	0.04 (-0.08,0.16)	0.04 (-0.07,0.15)	-0.05 (-0.16,0.07)	-0.11 (-0.22,0.01)	0.02 (-0.10,0.14)	0.03 (-0.09,0.14)
MVPA in bouts ≥10 min (min/day)	-0.04 (-0.15 ,0.08)	-0.08 (-0.20 ,0.04)	-0.08 (-0.20 ,0.03)	-0.03 (-0.15 ,0.08)	0.002 (-0.11,0.12)	-0.03 (-0.15,0.08)	0.05 (-0.07,0.17)	0.05 (-0.07,0.17)	-0.03 (-0.15,0.09)	-0.08 (-0.19,0.04)	0.04 (-0.08,0.15)	0.004 (-0. 11, 0.12)
Total # of MVPA bouts ≥ 10 min (bouts/day)	-0.04 (-0.15 ,0.08)	-0.08 (-0.20,0.03)	-0.08 (-0.19 ,0.04)	-0.03 (-0.15 ,0.08)	0.004 (-0.12,0.11)	-0.04 (-0.16,0.07)	0.04 {-0.07,0.16}	0.05 (-0.07,0.16)	-0.03 (-0.14,0.09)	-0.10 (-0.21,0.02)	0.08 (-0.03,0.20)	0.02 (-0.10,0.14)

Table 4-5: Correlations of PA to Health-Related Variables in Yup'ik Women

N=286

* indicates significant correlation at alpha=0.05

PA = physical activity; BMI = body mass index; WC = waist circumference; MVPA = moderate-to-vigorous physical activity

Values listed for the continuous variables are Spearman's Correlation coefficients and 95% CL. Correlations between PA components and body size variables (body weight, BMI, WC, and %body fat) are partialled for age and monitor wear time. Correlations between PA components and lipids, glucose, and blood pressures are partialled for age, body weight, and monitor wear-time.

Dependent	Total Activity (counts/day)	MVPA (min/day)	Sedentary time (min/day)						
	Standardized β coefficient (SE)								
Weight (kg)	-0.280 (0.049)*	-0.035 (0.048)	0.193 (0.054)*						
BMI (kg/m²)	-0.238 (0.047)*	-0.032 (0.045)	0.165 (0.052)*						
Waist Circumference (cm)	-0.252 (0.048)*	-0.026 (0.046)	0.166 (0.053)*						
Body fat (%)	-0.171 (0.036)*	0.006 (0.034)	0.105 (0.039)*						
Total cholesterol (mg/dL)	-0.014 (0.046)	-0.085 (0.042)*	-0.051 (0.049)						
HDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	0.095 (0.044)*	-0.062 (0.040)	-0.112 (0.046)*						
LDL cholesterol (mg/dL)	-0.021 (0.048)	-0.062 (0.044)	-0.036 (0.051)						
Non-HDL Cholesterol (mg/dL)	-0.058 (0.047)	-0.059 (0.043)	-0.002 (0.050)						
Triglycerides (mg/dL)	-0.148 (0.047)*	-0.016 (0.044)	0.113 (0.051)*						
Glucose (mg/dL)	0.002 (0.049)	-0.090 (0.045)*	0.008 (0.052)						
SBP (mm Hg)	-0.042 (0.047)	0.024 (0.043)	0.017 (0.050)						
DBP (mm Hg)	-0.063 (0.048)	0.004 (0.044)	0.023 (0.052)						

Table 4-6: Associations of PA and Health-Related Risk in Yup'ik People

N= 531

CPD = counts per day; MVPA= total time (min) of moderate and vigorous physical activity; PAEE = physical activity energy expenditure; BMI = body mass index; SBP = systolic blood pressure; DBP = diastolic blood pressure.

* indicates significant at alpha=0.05

Age, sex, and monitor wear time were included as covariates in all models. Models for cholesterols, triglycerides, glucose, and blood pressure also included body weight in addition to age, sex, and monitor wear time as covariates. Each column (i.e., each activity measure) represents results of models with that variable alone as the dependent variable, without adjustment for the other activity measures.

5 General Conclusions

This dissertation had two primary goals: 1) To assess the validity of low cost, transportable and effective tools for estimating body composition and free-living physical activity in Yup'ik adults who live in remote regions of Southwest Alaska; and 2) to investigate the relationships between body composition and physical activity with health-related and disease variables in this study population.

Reliable, accurate, and cost effective methods to assess body composition and physical activity are essential to understand risk and protective factors for obesity-related metabolic disorders and to design culturally appropriate interventions. Obesity and inactivity often lead to the development of chronic disease. Identifying individuals at increased risk for developing chronic disease is important in order to improve their ultimate health outcomes.

Chapter 1 includes an introduction and background for the research in this dissertation. It outlines the problem of obesity, briefly describes current methods which are available for determining body composition and for measuring physical activity, and lays out the research goals.

113

Chapter 2 focuses on body composition estimation and the relationship between body composition and health-related variables. Simple measurements including body mass index (BMI), waist circumference (WC), hip circumference, and skin fold measurements are often used as a proxy for evaluating adiposity. In this chapter, we verify that these proxy measurements are accurate for evaluating adiposity by comparing them to body composition estimates from the doubly-labeled water method. We also investigate the associations of simple proxy measurements with health-related and disease variables and compare their associations with more complex measurements of body composition. Body composition can be reliably estimated using simple measurements, including WC, hip circumference, and sex (model R^2 =0.973), making anthropometry a practical method for use in remote areas where access to heavy and expensive equipment is not feasible. The health-related variables investigated included: 1) fasting plasma lipids, 2) fasting glucose, 3) HbA1c, 4) adiponectin, and 5) blood pressure. Disease status variables included diabetes (DM) and cerebrocoronary vascular disease (CCVD) which includes stroke and heart disease. We find that the simple (proxy) body measurements of WC and BMI are more strongly correlated with the health-related and disease variables than are the estimates of body composition (fat free mass, fat mass, and percent body fat) from bioelectrical impedance or linear regression. This is an important finding for researchers and health care professionals, as it gives assurance that the simple

measurement of WC can identify those who may be at risk for developing chronic disease.

Chapter 3 focuses on determining the accuracy of a combined movement and heart rate monitor (Actiheart), to objectively assess physical activity energy expenditure (PAEE) among Yup'ik adults. Actiheart PAEE estimates are compared with PAEE estimates derived from the doubly labeled water method (DLW). In this work we investigated the association of PAEE from the Actiheart and DLW that is not due to age, sex, or body size. PAEE estimates from the Actiheart monitor do not accurately estimate free-living PAEE in Yup'ik people when compared with DLW PAEE. Total accelerometry (ACC) counts per day (CPD) however, was more strongly, and significantly, correlated with DLW PAEE than were any of the Actiheart PAEE models. Use of the Actiheart may have important limitations, including incorrect PAEE estimates, which should be recognized by researchers who plan to use it for individual consultation and interventional studies. If PAEE estimates are desired, using total CPD as a proxy for PAEE is suggested. However, using the PAEE information from the Actiheart software to address energy balance issues for individuals may be inappropriate because of the potential for large discrepancies from the true PAEE value.

Although the Actiheart may not be ideal for estimating PAEE, it does provide important features for assessing physical activity behavior. The Actiheart can be used to assess duration, frequency, and intensity of physical activity as well as an estimate of fitness and sleep duration. The relationship between these subcomponents of physical activity and health-related variables is not well understood. The ability to differentiate between these subcomponents of physical activity will enable researchers to identify which physical activity subcomponents are most influential in staying healthy.

In Chapter 4, we evaluate how the subcomponents of physical activity are associated with health-related variables. The Actiheart is used to evaluate total CPD, moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), and sedentary time. Total CPD is more strongly associated with body weight, BMI, WC, percent body fat, HDL cholesterol and triglycerides than are MVPA or time spent sedentary. Higher CPD can be accumulated through maintaining frequent low intensity activity, through less frequent but higher intensity bouts of activity, or both. The finding that total activity, measured in CPD, is the physical activity component most strongly associated with health-related variables is in contrast to the World Health Organization (WHO) and the Dept. of Health and Human Services (DHHS) recommendations, which focus on the accumulation of 150 minutes/week of MVPA (1,2). Our results suggest that increasing regular movement of any intensity greater than resting may be a more important public health target than focusing on 150 minutes/week of MVPA. The scope of this dissertation provides the foundation for future longitudinal and interventional studies related to the role that body composition and physical activity play in health outcomes of Yup'ik people. Further, this research highlights an important finding that may be relevant for all people, that movement of any type, regardless of intensity, may be more important for metabolic and cardiovascular health than MVPA. Most research in this field looks at the impact of MVPA and sedentary behavior on metabolic and cardiovascular health, but our research argues for rigorously designed, longitudinal studies investigating the impact of total movement in CPD on metabolic and cardiovascular health.

Highlighting the active lifestyle of Yup'ik people, and how total CPD is associated with health, may be relevant to the health of other cultures. Based on our study sample, the Yup'ik people far exceeding the physical activity recommendations from the WHO and DHHS of 150 minutes per week of MVPA. Living a rural subsistence lifestyle provides numerous opportunities to increase total CPD while performing normal daily activities. Future research should be directed at physical activity education and interventions in an attempt to prevent chronic diseases such as type 2 diabetes, heart disease, and stroke in Yup'ik people.

References

1. Global recommendations on physical activity and health. World Health Organization. Switzerland: WHO Press; 2010.

2. US Dept of Health and Human Services. 2008 Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans.

.

.